
  
 

APOPKA CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 18, 2017 7:00 PM 

APOPKA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

Agendas are subject to amendment through 

5:00pm on the day prior to City Council Meetings 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
INVOCATION - Pastor Waldemar Serrano of Remnant Christian Center. 
PLEDGE 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. City Council special meeting September 27, 2017. 
2. City Council regular meeting October 4, 2017. 

 
AGENDA REVIEW: 
Proclamations: 

1. Week of the Family Proclamation presented to Week of the Family Foundation         Mayor Kilsheimer 
 
Presentations: 

1. Presentation on Apopka Property Values by Property Appraiser Rick Singh. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT; STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
Public Comment Period:  
The Public Comment Period is for City-related issues that may or may not be on today’s Agenda. If you are here for a matter that 
requires a public hearing, please wait for that item to come up on the agenda. If you wish to address the Council, you must fill out an 
Intent to Speak form and provide it to the City Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. If you wish to speak during the Public Comment 
Period, please fill out a green-colored Intent-to-Speak form. If you wish to speak on a matter that requires a public hearing, please fill 
out a white-colored Intent-to-Speak form. Speaker forms may be completed up to 48 hours in advance of the Council meeting. Each 
speaker  will  have  four minutes to  give  remarks,  regardless  of  the  number  of  items  addressed.  Please refer to Resolution No. 
2016-16 for further information regarding our Public Participation Policy & Procedures for addressing the City Council. 
 
CONSENT (Action Item) 

1. Approve the renewal of Inmate Contract W1084 for the use of Inmate Squad III. 
2. Approval of two voting precincts for the General Election March 13, 2018. 

 
BUSINESS (Action Item) 

1. Approval of blanket purchase orders for the Public Services Department. Jay Davoll 
2. Approval of a proposal to perform rehabilitation and repairs of Lift Station #9 Wet Well.  Kevin Burgess 
3. Approval of a Management Assessment/Audit of the meter reading & customer service operations.  Kevin Burgess 
4. Approval of a property bid offer for the SE corner of N. Park Ave. and E. Sandpiper Road.     James Hitt 
5. Approval of the Johns Road Maintenance Map. Richard Earp 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION (Action Item) 

1. Ordinance No. 2603 – Second Reading - Annexation - Legislative  David Moon  
Project: Irmalee Lane Right-of-Way, located north of McCormick Road and east of State Road 429.  
 

2. Ordinance No. 2602 – First Reading – Corrective Ordinance – Kelly Park Crossing DRI-DO - Quasi-Judicial James Hitt 
Project:  Kelly Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact Development Order.  
 

3. Resolution 2017-24 - Opposing consideration of a second Wekiva Parkway Interchange. Mayor Kilsheimer  
 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

 1



  
 

 
MEETINGS AND UPCOMING EVENTS 

DATE TIME EVENT 

October 23, 2017 10:00am – 11:00am Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

October 27, 2017 6:00pm – 9:00pm Steak Competition – Northwest Recreation Complex 

October 28, 2017 11:00am – 4:00pm The Florida BBQ Association Competition – Northwest Recreation Complex 

October 28, 2017 12:00pm – 5:00pm Spirit of Florida Gospel Festival ~ Faith Family & the Future of Florida – Northwest 
Recreation Complex 

October 28, 2017 5:00pm – 9:00pm Hometown Halloween in the Park – Kit Land Nelson Park 

November 1, 2017 1:30pm –  City Council Meeting 

November 2, 2017 5:30pm – 9:00pm Food Truck Round-Up 

November 2, 2017 6:30pm – 8:30pm Legal Matters Forum presented by the Orange County Clerk of Courts, Tiffany Moore 
Russell - Apopka Community Center 

November 3, 2017 9:00am – Mayor Land Statue Unveiling – City Hall  

November 10, 2017 - Observance of Veterans Day – City Offices Closed 

November 12, 2017 7:00am – 9:00am Apopka First Responders 5K Race – Northwest Recreation Complex 

November 13, 2017 6:30pm – CONA Meeting – UCF Apopka Business Incubator 

November 14, 2017 5:30pm – Planning Commission Meeting 

November 15, 2017 7:00pm – Council Meeting 

November 16, 2017 1:30pm –  Pension Board Meeting 

November 21, 2017 6:00pm –  Code Enforcement Hearing 

November 24, 2017 -  Thanksgiving Holiday – City Offices Closed 

November 25, 2017 -  Thanksgiving Holiday – City Offices Closed 

November 27, 2017 10:00am – 11:00am Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

 
Individuals with disabilities needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk at least two (2) working days in 
advance of the meeting date and time at (407) 703-1704.  F.S. 286.0105 If a person decides to appeal any decision or recommendation made by 
Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, he will need record of the proceedings, and that for such purposes he may need to ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
Any opening invocation that is offered before the official start of the Council meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private person, to and for the 
benefit of the Council.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the City Council or 
the city staff, and the City is not allowed by law to endorse the religious or non-religious beliefs or views of such speaker.  Persons in attendance at the 
City Council meeting are invited to stand during the opening ceremony. However, such invitation shall not be construed as a demand, order, or any other 
type of command.  No person in attendance at the meeting shall be required to participate in any opening invocation that is offered or to participate in the 
Pledge of Allegiance.  You may remain seated within the City Council Chambers or exit the City Council Chambers and return upon completion of the 
opening invocation and/or Pledge of Allegiance if you do not wish to participate in or witness the opening invocation and/or the recitation of the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
  

2



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

1. City Council special meeting September 27, 2017. 
  

3



CITY OF APOPKA 

 

Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on September 27, 2017, at 5:01 p.m., in the 

City of Apopka Council Chambers. 

 

PRESENT:  Mayor Joe Kilsheimer 

Commissioner Billie Dean 

Commissioner Diane Velazquez 

Commissioner Kyle Becker 

Commissioner Doug Bankson 

Glenn Irby, City Administrator 

 

PRESS PRESENT:  John Peery - The Apopka Chief 

 

INVOCATION:  The invocation as given by Reverend Laura Viau of First Presbyterian Church. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - Mayor Kilsheimer led in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 

SET FINAL MILLAGE & BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 
 

1. Resolution No. 2017-16 - Setting the millage levy for the Fiscal Year 2017-2018 at 

3.7876. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-16 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, SETTING THE MILLAGE 

LEVY FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said the City of Apopka City Council convenes this Public Hearing on 

the City of Apopka’s Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Final Millage rates and Final Budget as 

required by Florida Statutes, Chapters 129 and 200. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said Florida Statutes, Chapter 200 requires that a Final Public Hearing 

on the budget be preceded by a two to five day notice of that hearing. Florida Statutes, 

Chapter 129 requires that we advertise a summary of the final budget.  He asked the clerk 

if there was proof of publication that such notices have been given.  

 

City Clerk Goff said pursuant to these requirements, a summary of the final City Budget 

was provided for public review by means of advertisement in the Orlando Sentinel on 

Sunday, September 24, 2017.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said Resolution 2017-16 is setting the millage levy for the fiscal year 

2017-18 at 3.7876 mills. 

  

4



CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on September 27, 2017, at 5:01 p.m. 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer opened the meeting to a public hearing, inviting citizens to comment on 

the Fiscal Year 2017-18 millage rate. No one wishing to speak, he closed the public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Velazquez, to 

adopt Resolution No. 2017-16, establishing Fiscal Year 2017-18 final millage rate at 

3.7876 mills, which represents an increase of 7.42% from the rolled back rate of 3.5260 

mills.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said they know his concerns and objections and he will let those 

stand. He stated this is an increase and he did not see it being the long term solve. 

 

Motion carried by a 4-1 roll call vote with Mayor Kilsheimer, and Commissioners 

Dean, Velazquez and Becker voting aye, and Commissioner Bankson voting nay. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer announced the City of Apopka has determined that a final millage rate of 

3.7876 mills is necessary to fund the final budget. The final millage rate represents an 

increase of 7.42% from the rolled back rate of 3.5260 mills. 

 

2. Resolution No. 2017-17 - Adopt the annual budget for Fiscal Year 2017-2018.  The City 

Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-17 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, ADOPTING THE ANNUAL 

BUDGET FOR THE GENERAL FUND, SPECIAL 

REVENUE FUNDS, AND ENTERPRISE FUNDS FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2017-2018. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said the Fiscal Year 2017-2018 proposed budget for all funds is 

balanced at $124,672,709. It is balanced at an operating millage rate of 3.7876, which is 

7.42% above the rolled back rate of 3.5260.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he 

closed the public hearing. 

 

Commissioner Bankson said he spent several hours today talking with Bob Ensor with the 

Florida League of Cities (FLC) discussing matters he was concerned about, including the 

reserve rate. He said the City was still in a safe zone, stating the GFOA only gives a two 

month basis to establish from and build upon. He stated he was looking at common trends 

that lead to sustainability and Mr. Ensor confirmed the three main indicators to be concerned 

about were taxes going up, borrowing increasing, and reserves going down. He said that he 

was not against utilizing our reserves for needs, but the City has no plan to put them back 

5



CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on September 27, 2017, at 5:01 p.m. 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

and this is his concern He said there were certain principals that are good, sound, and 

healthy, and this is what he advocates and asks Council to work together to consider this for 

the residents.  

 

Commissioner Velazquez inquired if Commissioner Bankson showed Mr. Ensor previous 

budgets for comparison to show where they started, to which Commissioner Bankson said 

they discussed this budget and he discussed where the City had been, trying to give Mr. 

Ensor as much information as he could during the conversation. 

 

Commissioner Velazquez said we have to provide services to our community and by voting 

no to the budget it was not supportive of the community and staff.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said his objection was that the present path the City was on was not 

sustainable, and there were no policies to replenish the reserve funds.  

 

Commissioner Becker said he can totally respect Commissioner Bankson’s comments, but 

for him it is all about the math. He asked Commissioner Bankson if by voting no on the 

millage rate was it his idea to roll the millage back, stating we would be further in the hole 

in terms of the general fund revenue. Commissioner Becker said he supports the idea of 

having a healthy reserve balance, but what actual steps do we have to take to get there. He 

stated during the budget workshops they did not have conversations enough to where cutting 

back the necessities supported the idea of working toward the 25% number.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said he was seeing a number of trends that concern him and felt 

this needs to be factored in to the thinking process of our budgeting. He reiterated he could 

not support the budget if these factors were not included.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Velazquez, to 

adopt Resolution No. 2017-17 adopting revenues, expenditures, and fund balances for 

the City’s Fiscal Year Budget commencing on October 1, 2017, and ending on 

September 30, 2018. Motion carried by a 4-1 roll call vote with Mayor Kilsheimer, and 

Commissioners Dean, Velazquez and Becker voting aye and Commissioner Bankson 

voting nay. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer announced the City of Apopka has adopted Resolution No. 2017-17, 

which adopts revenues, expenditures, and fund balances for the City’s Fiscal Year Budget 

commencing on October 1, 2017 and ending September 30, 2018.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said this concludes the Public Hearing on the City of Apopka’s Fiscal 

Year 2017-2018 Final Millage rates and Final Budget as required by Florida Statutes, 

Chapters 129 and 200. 

  

6



CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on September 27, 2017, at 5:01 p.m. 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT – There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 6:00 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

        Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

7



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

2. City Council regular meeting October 4, 2017. 
  

8



CITY OF APOPKA 

 

Minutes of the City Council regular meeting held on October 4, 2017, at 1:30 p.m., in the City 

of Apopka Council Chambers. 

 

PRESENT:   Mayor Joe Kilsheimer 

   Commissioner Billie Dean 

Commissioner Diane Velazquez 

Commissioner Doug Bankson 

Commissioner Kyle Becker 

City Attorney Cliff Shepard 

City Administrator Glenn Irby 

 

PRESS PRESENT:  Teresa Sargeant - The Apopka Chief 

    Reggie Connell, The Apopka Voice 

 

INVOCATION:  Mayor Kilsheimer introduced Pastor Ben Bankson of Victory Church, who gave 

the invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Kilsheimer said on October 2, 1967, that Thurgood Marshall 

was sworn in as the first African American Justice of the United States Supreme Court. Before his 

appointment, Thurgood Marshall served as the NAACP’s Chief Counsel from 1938 to 1961, during 

which time he played a pivotal role in registering African American voters throughout the south and 

in Central Florida. As NAACP’s Special Counsel, Marshall served as lead counsel for the defendants 

in the notorious Groveland Four case. Marshall also successfully argued the Brown v. Topeka Board 

of Education case in 1954, which ended segregation in public education. This victory gave strength 

to the Civil Rights Movement, eventually leading to the desegregation of public facilities and 

accommodations. He asked everyone to remember those men and women who, like Thurgood 

Marshall, dedicated their lives to our Civil Rights Movement he led in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. City Council workshop meeting July 20, 2017. 

2. City Council special meeting August 22, 2017. 

3. City Council regular meeting September 6, 2017. 

4. City Council special meeting September 13, 2017. 

5. City Council regular meeting September 20, 2017. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Velazquez to approve City 

Council minutes of July 20, 2017, August 22, 2017, September 6, 2017, September 13, 2017, and 

September 20, 2017 as presented. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and 

Commissioners Dean, Velazquez, Becker, and Bankson voting aye.  

 

AGENDA REVIEW 

Proclamations: 

1. Mayor Kilsheimer read a proclamation recognizing and claiming October 24, 2017 as World Polio 

Day in the City of Apopka, and presented it to the Rotary Club of Apopka.  

 

9



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a City Council regular meeting held on October 4, 2017, at 1:30 p.m. 

Page 2 

 

Christine Horvay, President of the Apopka Rotary Club, thanked the City of Apopka and Council 

for being involved in this, and asked they all join them in lighting up Apopka for World Polio 

Day. 

 

Employee Recognition: 

 Fifteen Year Service Award – Steven “Steve” Harmon – Police/Field Services. The 

Commissioners joined Mayor Kilsheimer in congratulating Steve for his years of service. 

 Twenty Year Service Award – Carol McMaster – Police/Support Services. The Commissioners 

joined Mayor Kilsheimer in congratulating Carol for her years of service. 

 Twenty-five Year Service Award – Stephan “Steve” Brick – Police/Support Services. Steve was 

not present and will be presented his award at another time. 

 

Presentations: 

1.  Announcement of newly sworn in police officers. 

Mayor Kilsheimer said it was his pleasure to introduced three newly sworn in police officers with 

the City of Apopka. He introduced the following new officers: 

 Officer Tavhani Quarterman 

 Officer Tyler Bauer 

 Officer Christopher Padilla 

 

2. Standing Ovation Award for Erin VanNorstrand with Dispatch. 

Mayor Kilsheimer recognized Erin VanNorstrand receiving the Standing Ovation Award. Erin 

received a 9-1-1 call from a mother requesting medical assistance for her child behaving oddly. 

Erin used her training and knowledge to question the mother to find they had no power in the 

house and determine the child was showing signs of carbon monoxide poisoning. Her quick 

thinking and action saved not only the child, but the rest of the family and the first responders 

responding to the scene. 

 

3. Presentation on the Orange County Clerk of Courts Self Help Center launch. 

Tiffany Moore Russell, Orange County Clerk of Courts, reviewed a video explaining their Self 

Help Center. She reviewed the services they offer to include marriage licenses, court filings, 

passports, traffic ticket payments, trial evidence, and dissolution of marriage just to name a few. 

The Clerk of Courts are the gateway to the courts and their duties are crucial to our justice system. 

There is an office in Apopka and on October 17, 2017, they will be launching the Apopka Self 

Help Center. This will provide legal assistance in Northwest Orange County for self-represented 

citizens who do not have an attorney. Ms. Russell said interested parties can go to their website 

at www.myorangeclerk.com/self-help to obtain more information. 

 

4. West Orange Aviation Authority request for funding. 

Jeff Welch, Chairman of West Orange Aviation Authority, said he was first appointed by 

Governor Crist, and reappointed by Governor Scott. He stated they are an Authority that does not 

have an airport, advising they were appointed by the State Legislature several decades ago. He 

said to provide some history, there was talk at one time about potentially not having Orlando 

Executive Airport anymore due to issues with the flight plan, which is no longer an issue. He 

stated approximately eight years ago the Legislature defined our overlay district which is the 

North Shore of Lake Apopka. This area includes several existing airports: Orlando Apopka 

Airport, Bob White Airport, and Loomis and Long Airport, all being privately owned. He said 
10



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a City Council regular meeting held on October 4, 2017, at 1:30 p.m. 

Page 3 

 

the previous administration had hoped making an investment in general aviation would be 

beneficial, making an investment in the Orlando Apopka Airport by purchasing the FBO building 

with the hope to develop this area as an industrial park. He advised a feasibility study was done 

in 2000 and another one in 2008. He stated he is working with District 5 of the FDOT Aviation 

side and they are at a point where they feel to develop industrial would drive the demand for 

general aviation. He advised the WOAA has bonding capability, and condemnation ability, stating 

it is a great organization for the future.  He said it took a lot to have WOAA formed and he did 

not want to see it go away during his administration. He stated expenses have been kept very low 

and advised they were running out of their funding. Funding is supposed to come from Orange 

County, State of Florida, City of Apopka, City of Ocoee, and City of Winter Garden.  He said 

when the overlay district moved more into the Apopka area, both Ocoee and Winter Garden lost 

interest in this, and did not look at the big picture of this entire multi-model area. He declared it 

is time where he needs to go to all of the partners of the West Orange Aviation Authority and ask 

for some limited funding to keep the Authority alive and potentially do some studies for economic 

opportunity for this area. He said he was not here today to ask for money, but to provide 

information about WOAA. He stated he would like to meet with Mr. Irby and Mr. Hitt to discuss 

advantages they could offer the City of Apopka for future economic growth and discuss the 

potential of some funding from next year’s budget.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT/STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Public Comment:  There was no public comment. 

 

CONSENT (Action Item) 

1. Approve Alcohol Sales & Service for a BBQ event at the Northwest Recreation Complex. 

2. Approve Alcohol Sales & Service for a fundraising and Police and Fire competition at the 

Northwest Recreation Complex. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Velazquez, to approve two 

items on the Consent Agenda.  Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and 

Commissioners Dean, Velazquez, Becker, and Bankson voting aye. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS (Action Item) 

 

1. Ordinance No. 2594 – Second Reading – Annexation – Project: Curtis & Karen Pumphrey – 

Location: 251 W Lester Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2594 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 

TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 

LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

OWNED BY CURTIS AND KAREN PUMPHREY, LOCATED AT 251 

WEST LESTER ROAD; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY 

CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

David Moon, Planning Manager, advised this and the next ordinance were presented on 

September 6, 2017 under First Reading, and the applicant requested to postpone the Second 
11



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a City Council regular meeting held on October 4, 2017, at 1:30 p.m. 

Page 4 

 

Reading at the September 20, 2017 meeting to October 4, 2017.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Dean to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2594. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and 

Commissioner Dean, Velazquez, Becker, and Bankson voting aye. 

 

2. Ordinance No. 2595 – Second Reading – Annexation – Project: A.D. Raulerson Sr. & A.D. 

Raulerson Jr. – Location: 213 W. Lester Road & 2122 Rock Springs Road. The City Clerk read 

the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2595 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 

TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 

LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

OWNED BY A.D. RAULERSON AND A.D. RAULERSON, JR., LOCATED 

AT 213 WEST LESTER ROAD AND 2122 ROCK SPRINGS ROAD; 

PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, 

SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Dean, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2595. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and 

Commissioner Dean, Velazquez, Becker, and Bankson voting aye. 

 

3. Ordinance No. 2603 – First Reading – Annexation – Project: Irmalee Lane Right-of-Way, 

located north of McCormick Road and east of State Road 429. The City Clerk read the title as 

follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2603 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 

TO FLORIDA STATUE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 

PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY KNOWN AS IRMALEE LANE SITUATED 

AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, LOCATED GENERALLY 

EAST OF STATE ROAD 429 AND NORTH OF MCCORMICK ROAD AND 

COMPRISED OF APPROXIMATELY 6.5 ACRES; OWNED BY ORANGE 

COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS; PROVIDING FOR 

DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS 

AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

12



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a City Council regular meeting held on October 4, 2017, at 1:30 p.m. 

Page 5 

 

David Moon gave a brief lead-in explaining this was related to the development application for 

PUD zoning on a project called Oak Point. He advised that during the review of a PUD rezoning 

application it was discovered a public roadway through the center of the project known as Irmalee 

Lane was under the ownership of the Orange County Board of County Commissioners. The road 

was not included in the legal descriptions of the properties comprising Oak Point. At this time the 

City of Apopka is initiating the annexation of a county road to bring it into the City of Apopka’s 

jurisdiction. He advised upon annexation the City of Apopka will own the roadway and have 

complete control of both the ownership and maintenance/operation responsibilities for the 

roadway.  

 

In response to who would be responsible to remove the cattle guard if it remains once the City 

takes this over, Mr. Irby advised the City would be responsible. 

 

Mr. Moon advised staff will be coordinating with the property owner and the applicant of Oak 

Point to address the issue with the gate and cattle guard.  

 

City Attorney Shepard advised the key to this was that it could not be a gated public road.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer opened the meeting to a public hearing. No wishing to speak, he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Velazquez, and seconded by Commissioner Dean, to approve 

Ordinance No. 2603 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. Motion carried 

unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and Commissioner Dean, Velazquez, Becker, and 

Bankson voting aye. 

 

4. Resolution No. 2017-19– Amending the budget for FY October 1, 2016 – September 30, 

2017. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-19 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, AMENDING THE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2016 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2017, 

PROVIDING FOR A BUDGET AMENDMENT. 

 

Pam Barclay, Director of Finance, said this was a resolution to amend last fiscal year budget. She 

advised this was the second budget amendment to include carry forward appropriations, funding 

from reserves that were previously approved by Council, and grant funds that were awarded 

through the year as well as contributions received from the State for Fire and Police Pensions.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Velazquez, to approve 

Resolution No. 2017-19. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and 

Commissioners Dean, Velazquez, Becker, and Bankson voting aye. 

13



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a City Council regular meeting held on October 4, 2017, at 1:30 p.m. 

Page 6 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL REPORTS. 

Commissioner Dean thanked Mr. Irby and Mr. Hitt for working diligently with Mr. Love in making 

the Gospel Fest a reality by finding a venue to hold this.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said there is a ministry that has a cargo plane they are able to get into the 

much needed area of Puerto Rico. He said Victory Church’s Spanish ministry has joined with them 

and the Chamber of Commerce is a drop off place through Thursday, October 5, 2017, 10:00 a.m. 

 

Commissioner Bankson said with the debris removal, is there a possibility of self-removal and having 

credit through the utility bill, which would open funding rather than having it come from the general 

fund. Mr. Irby advised he could look into this and stated drop off locations were posted in an update 

recently. 

 

In response to Commissioner Velazquez regarding how to get something done about a sinkhole in 

Rock Springs Ridge on property owned by the golf course, Mr. Irby suggested they contact Code 

Enforcement.  

 

MAYOR’S REPORT  

Mayor Kilsheimer said storm debris is the biggest topic on the minds of our residents, and he advised 

this morning we began collecting with three outside trucks and three city trucks picking up debris. The 

combined capacity of these trucks was approximately 2,500 cubic yards per day. He declared when 

this process began right after the storm there was an estimated 250,000 cubic yards of storm debris. 

He reported two additional trucks were scheduled to arrive in Apopka this afternoon and once they 

are FEMA-certified they will be placed in service. The contractor is also fabricating two new trucks 

in Missouri and these trucks will arrive later this week. He said with this the pace will be accelerated 

to pick up storm debris in the coming days. They are utilizing temporary debris sites in order to be 

close to the pickup areas and minimize time the trucks are away from the pickup areas. 

 

Commissioner Bankson said he thought we were allowed to use someone based on an emergency 

basis and beyond that for the longer term we had to put this out to bid. He stated there were three local 

companies that do this type of work. 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said all of the guidance we have received is that you need to use people who are 

certified and accustomed to the requirements of FEMA in order to receive reimbursement.  He stated 

the company the City contracted with CrowderGulf, a national company and very experienced in 

working with FEMA. He advised subcontractors would work through CrowderGulf.  

 

City Attorney Shepard said he understood the City obtained three bids and chose from those. He said 

what Commissioner Bankson is referring to is if we hand pick a contractor based on that emergency, 

and he was right it is only for the exigent period.  

 

Commissioner Bankson inquired if these local companies could operate as subcontractors.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer advised they could work through CrowderGulf., if they were willing to work for 

CrowderGulf’s prices. 

 

 
14



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a City Council regular meeting held on October 4, 2017, at 1:30 p.m. 

Page 7 

 

Commissioner Dean inquired if the appropriations request forms received from the lobbyist should be 

turned in to Mr. Irby. Mr. Irby responded in the affirmative. 

 

NOT REQUIRING ACTION: 

1.  Appreciation email for Fire Chief Carnesale. 

2. Thank you letter from Jack and Jill Cooper regarding Oaks at Wekiwa subdivision 

3. Thank you letter from Hop Community Center. 

 

ADJOURNMENT – There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 2:45 p.m. 

 

 

         ___________________________ 

         Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor 

ATTEST; 

 

 

___________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

15



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

1. Approve the renewal of Inmate Contract W1084 for the use of Inmate Squad III. 
  

16



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

   X    CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Amendment 1 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: INMATE WORK SQUAD CONTRACT III-#WS1084   
   

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACT          

WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 

 

  
SUMMARY: 

 

On October 5, 2016, the City Council approved Inmate Work Squad Contract III, #WS1084, for one-year 

with the potential for a one-year extension. The contract will expire December 21, 2017. The attached 

contract amendment will provide a one-year extension to expire on December 21, 2018. The cost will 

remain the same at $57,497. 

 

   
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 101 – FY 2018 Inmate Division Budget. 

    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the City Administrator to sign contract #WS1084 with the Department of Corrections for an 

inmate work squad. 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director   

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

17



CONTRACT # W1084 

Amendment # 1 

 Page 1 of 2 

 
CONTRACT AMENDMENT BETWEEN  

 

THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 

 

AND 

CITY OF APOPKA 

 

This is an Amendment to the Contract between the Florida Department of Corrections (“Department”) and 

the City of Apopka (“Agency”), to provide for the use of inmate labor in work programs. 

 

This Amendment: 

 

 Renews the Contract for one (1) year pursuant to Section I., B., Contract Renewal; and revises the 

end date of the Contract referenced in Section I., A., Contract Term. The Department is exercising 

its renewal option for the final renewal period; and 

 Replaces Addendum A with Revised Addendum A, effective December 22, 2017 pursuant to 

Section III., A., Payment to the Department, 5.  

  

 Original contract period: December 22, 2016 through December 21, 2017. 

 

In accordance with Section V., CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS, the following changes are hereby made: 

 

1. Section I., Contract Term., A, is hereby revised to read: 

 

A.  Contract Term 

 

This Contract began December 22, 2016 and shall end at midnight on December 21, 2018. 

 

This Contract is in its final renewal period. 

 

2. Section III., A., Payment to the Department, 5., the rate of compensation is amended to reflect the rates 

indicated in Revised Addendum A.  Addendum A is hereby replaced with Revised Addendum A 

effective December 24, 2017. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All other terms and conditions of the original Contract remain in full force and effect. 

18



CONTRACT # W1084 

Amendment # 1 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
This Amendment shall begin on the last date of signature by all parties. 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Contract to be executed by their undersigned 
officials as duly authorized. 

 

AGENCY:  CITY OF APOPKA 

 

SIGNED 

BY: 

 

  

NAME:  

  

TITLE:  

  

DATE:  

  

FEID #:  

  

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS  Approved as to form and legality, 

subject to execution. 

   

SIGNED 

BY: 

 SIGNED 

BY: 

 

    

NAME: Kasey B. Faulk NAME: Kenneth S. Steely 

    

TITLE: Chief, Bureau of Procurement TITLE: General Counsel 

    

DATE:  DATE:  

   

 

  

19



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

2. Approval of two voting precincts for the General Election March 13, 2018. 
  

20



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

   X    CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:             City Clerk 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  CITY OF APOPKA GENERAL ELECTION – MARCH 13, 2018 

 

REQUEST: THE CLERK’S OFFICE BUDGETED FOR TWO PRECINCTS FOR THE MARCH 

13, 2018 GENERAL ELECTION. THIS WAS APPROVED IN THE FY 2017/2018 

BUDGET. REQUEST DIRECTION FROM COUNCIL TO MOVE FORWARD 

WITH TWO VOTING PRECINCTS.  
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The City Clerk’s office has had multiple complaints in the past that there is only one polling place in the 

City General Elections.  The FY 2017/2018 Budget had funding approved for two voting precincts during 

the March 13, 2018 General Election. The two precincts will be the Apopka Community Center and 

Northwest Recreation Conference Room. Electors will receive an informational voter card with their 

precinct listed. 

 

Early Voting will remain at the Orange County Supervisor of Elections. As always, electors will have the 

option of requesting an absentee ballot through the Orange County Supervisor of Elections.  

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Approved in the FY 2017/2018 Budget.     
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve two voting precincts for the Apopka General Election on March 13, 2018. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director 

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

21



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

1. Approval of blanket purchase orders for the Public Services Department. Jay Davoll 
  

22



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

  X   OTHER: Business         
  

 

SUBJECT: PURCHASE OF UTILITY COMMODITIES 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE ISSUANCE OF BLANKET PURCHASE ORDERS FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF UTILITY COMMODITIES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017/2018 
  
SUMMARY:   

 
The Public Services Department purchases large amounts of various commodities in its daily operations including 

pipe, fittings, safety equipment, and chemicals throughout the year.  This purchasing is accomplished through 

piggybacking other municipalities and state contracts, which has provided the best cost savings for the quantities 

that are utilized. 

 

In accordance with Section 107.3.1.2(IV)(A), of the City’s Purchasing Policy, Staff requests approval to issue 

blanket purchase orders to the following vendors for the purchase of the referenced commodities. 

 

Division Vendor Commodity Amount 
Government 

Contract 

Warehouse Inventory Core & Main 
Pipe, Fittings, 

Accessories 
$1,000,000 OUC 

Warehouse Inventory Safety Products Safety Equipment $60,000 Pinellas County 

Water Plants 
Allied Universal 

Corporation 

Sodium 

Hypochlorite 
$29,937 Volusia County 

Wastewater 
Allied Universal 

Corporation 

Sodium 

Hypochlorite 
$60,000 Volusia County 

Wastewater 
Shelley’s Septic 

Tanks 
Sludge Hauling $148,200 City of Apopka 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 401- Utility Operating Fund, included and approved in the FY17/18 budget.  

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

Approve the issuance of blanket purchase orders to the referenced vendors for the purchase of the 

commodities listed. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
23



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

2. Approval of a proposal to perform rehabilitation and repairs of Lift Station #9 Wet Well.  Kevin Burgess 
  

24



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Proposal, Contract 

  X  OTHER: Business 
  

 

SUBJECT: REHABILITATION OF LIFT STATION #9 WET WELL 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE DANUS UTILITIES, INC. PROPOSAL TO PERFORM THE 

REHABILITATION OF THE LIFT STATION #9 WET WELL 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Lift Station #9, located at Oasis Apartments, is a major wastewater lift station for the City.  The concrete 

wet well has experienced severe deterioration from the sewer gases to a point that it poses potential 

environmental, health and safety hazards for the local community and staff, thus requiring repairs. 

 

Danus Utilities, Inc., provided a proposal to perform a turnkey rehabilitation of the wet well to restore it 

to normal operating conditions.  The rehabilitation includes all bypass pumping of the lift station, 

installation of a new fiberglass liner, HDPE (high density polyethylene) piping, pump rail system, and a 

new top slab that will have a fiberglass liner on the interior.  The total proposal is $74,654.50.  The City 

will piggyback the South Seminole & North Orange County Wastewater Transmission Authority Contract 

No. 2016-002. 

 

Staff requests approval for Danus Utilities, Inc., to perform the referenced repairs in the amount of 

$74,654.50 plus a 10% contingency of $7,465, for a total amount of $82,119.50.  Funding is not currently 

budgeted for this project in the FY 2018 Plant Maintenance Budget. 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 401 – Wastewater Utility Reserves    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve Danus Utilities, Inc. to perform the rehabilitation of the Lift Station #9 wet well in the amount of 

$74,654.50, plus a 10% contingency, for a total project cost of $82,119.50. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

3. Approval of a Management Assessment/Audit of the meter reading & customer service operations.   Kevin Burgess 
  

44



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services - Utilities 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Proposal 

  X  OTHER: Business 
  

 

SUBJECT: MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENT/AUDIT OF THE CUSTOMER    

SERVICE/METER READING OPERATIONS 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE WOODARD & CURRAN TO CONDUCT A MANAGEMENT 

ASSESSMENT/AUDIT OF THE CUSTOMER SERVICE/METER READING 

OPERATIONS FOR $19,800 
  
SUMMARY: 
 

The City’s Consumptive Use Permit (CUP) with the St. John’s River Water Management District (SJRWMD) 

requires the City to conduct an audit of its potable water system every three years.  The City conducted the audit for 

2016 and realized an unaccounted for water rate of 26.1% or 750,696,000 gallons.  The CUP mandates this rate 

cannot exceed 10%.  Additionally, this unaccounted for water volume equates to $1,058,481 in lost revenue when 

calculated using the lowest billing tier rate of $1.41 per 1,000 gallons.   
 

During the audit, it was determined that one source of the problem may be within the utility metering system not 

recording water consumption accurately.  The City purchased and installed its first generation Automatic Meter 

Reading (AMR) system in 2007.  During that project, approximately 20% of the water meters were completely 

replaced.  The remaining 80% only had registers replaced on the existing meters.  A typical Sensus ¾” x 5/8” that is 

installed in the City’s system has an accuracy warranty of 750,000 gallons or 10 years, whichever comes first.  The 

monthly average consumption in the City’s system is 10,780 gallons per month.  With this average consumption, 

each meter will lose its accuracy warranty coverage in 5.75 years.  This warrants a wholesale meter replacement for 

the entire potable water system. 
 

Staff requests approval for Woodard & Curran to conduct a Management Assessment/Audit of the Customer 

Service/Meter Reading Operations.  The use of Woodard & Curran will determine the most cost effective and 

efficient means of replacing the water meters throughout the City and restore utility revenues and compliance with 

the City’s Consumptive Use Permit.  Woodard & Curran is requested as an evaluated source due to their ability to 

provide results in a timely manner and based on their previous quality and service experienced with the city’s 

Wastewater Treatment Assessment.   
  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 401 – Potable Water Utility Reserves    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve Woodard & Curran to conduct a Management Assessment/Audit of the Customer Service/Meter 

Reading Operations in the amount of $19,800. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
45



COMMITMENT & INTEGRITY 

DRIVE RESULTS 
 

2055 Sugarloaf Circle | Suite 175 

Duluth, Georgia 30097 

www.woodardcurran.com 

T 770.622.6766 

F 770.396.0095 

 

City of Apopka, FL. 217359.01. 1 October 15, 2017 

Proposal for a Management Assessment/Audit of the Apopka 
 Customer Service/Meter Reading Operation 

 
 
 
In accordance with our recent discussions, Woodard & Curran is pleased to present this proposal to the 

City of Apopka for an Assessment/Audit of the City’s Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) and 

Customer Service/Meter Reading operations. The Assessment will review the City’s customer 

service/meter reading operations with a focus on assuring a well-integrated and high performing system. 

The Assessment will be conducted in light of a recent study by the City of Apopka showing a variance 

between what the City pumps from its groundwater resources and what it bills for. 

 

To accomplish this goal, Woodard & Curran will conduct a Management Assessment/Audit of the existing 

Customer Service/Meter Reading hardware, software and management systems. This will include a 

detailed review of the Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) software programs (referred to by the City as 

#1 and #2), currently being utilized. Each program will be evaluated to show City usage, capacity for 

expanded program usage, additional efficiencies, and the associated costs and benefits of implementing 

these efficiencies. We will also look to identify areas of improvements that will enhance and/or improve 

customer service operations, optimize the water system through water loss reductions, review end-of-life 

meter replacement management, identify improvements that present options to gain full compliance with 

regulatory standards, and review related administrative policies. 

 

Woodard & Curran will summarize this review in a Draft Technical Memorandum and present it to City 

staff. We will incorporate improvements proposed by City staff and finalize the Technical Memorandum for 

presentation to Council, as appropriate. 

 

The assessment is to be conducted by a team of operations specialists, engineers, and billing experts. 

Mike Cherniak, Vice President of O&M Technical Services will lead this team. 

 

1. WORK PLAN 

1. Woodard & Curran Vice President Michael Cherniak will lead the assessment. beginning in 

November. Mr. Cherniak will be assisted by other Specialists during the assessment. The initial 

visit will include a client orientation, preliminary review of the existing staff, software and 

hardware, and a kick-off meeting. 

2. The Assessment/Audit will be conducted over two, three- to five-day periods. During the 

assessment, the team will observe existing software usage, customer call/complaint data, 

equipment hardware and interview designated personnel.  At least three different levels of City 

staff should be available for brief periods, throughout the three days. Ideally, this would include a 

Manager that can discuss administrative factors; a Customer and Meter Service Specialist that 

can discuss current program usages and beneficial future program usages; and an IT Meter 

46



 
 

City of Apopka, FL. 217359.01. 2 October 15, 2017 

Maintenance Specialist that can discuss equipment and physical, mechanical, and electrical 

conditions status. 

3. The team will conduct a final project interview with designated client staff following the 

assessment.  Should additional information be required, one of our team members will be 

available to return, as appropriate. 

4. Within three weeks following the evaluation, Woodard & Curran will submit a Draft Technical 

Memorandum outlining the findings of the assessment. 

 

 

2. ASSUMPTIONS AND UNDERSTANDINGS 

This proposal incorporates the following assumptions and understandings regarding the scope of work: 

 

1. Customer Service Data: The City will provide data and information as recorded for customer 

service software and hardware, current system usage and status, and future beneficial needs.  

 
2. Meter Reading Data: Apopka will provide system diagrams and access to meter technical 

information and data as deemed relevant and applicable to the evaluation team. An in-depth 

review of existing meter status, communication equipment hardware and the benefits of up-

grading meters and hardware. 

 
3. Staff Interviews: Apopka will provide access to experienced personnel who can describe call 

service, meter operations, maintenance, and management and the status of the and distribution 

system and facilities. 

 
4. Submittals: Woodard & Curran will submit electronic copies of the Assessment/Audit and memos 

in PDF format. 

 
5. Schedule: Woodard & Curran will begin work within the timeframe proposed, or sooner, pending 

mutual availability of Apopka and Woodard & Curran team members. 

 
6. Terms and Conditions: Woodard & Curran will conduct this work under our standard terms and 

conditions, which will be submitted to Apopka for review and approval. 

 

3. SCHEDULE AND BUDGET 

The work will be scheduled to begin within 1 week of contract execution and will be completed during (or 

before) December 2017. A Draft Technical Memorandum will be provided within three weeks of the site 

visits. 

 

All work outlined herein will be conducted on a fixed fee (lump sum) basis not to exceed $19,800. Monthly 

progress invoices will be submitted to the City, as work is completed. 

47



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

4. Approval of a property bid offer for the SE corner of N. Park Ave. and E. Sandpiper Road.    James Hitt 
  

48



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: FOR SALE Sheets 

X OTHER:BUSINESS   Bid Offers 
  

SUBJECT: 
 

BID OFFER FOR THE S.E. CORNER OF N. PARK AVENUE & E. 

SANDPIPER ROAD 8.43 ACRE SITE 

   

REQUEST:  APPROVE THE BID OFFER FROM WEKIVA CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC FOR 

THE SALE OF THE S.E. CORNER OF N. PARK AVENUE AND E. 

SANDPIPER ROAD SITE. 

  

SUMMARY: 

The City owns various properties that have been acquired in the past.  As a result of new planning efforts, 

two properties were declared surplus by the City Council on February 1, 2017.   

The first property was the Marshall Lake site which is located south of Marshall Lake just west of SR 451, 

and is being sold to Royal Oak Homes.   

The second parcel is located at the southeast corner of N. Park Ave. and E. Sandpiper Rd.  Both of these 

sites would go back on the tax rolls once the sales are completed. 

An official appraisal was completed for each site and the FOR SALE minimum bid was based on those 

appraisals.  A copy of the FOR SALE sheet for the N. Park Ave. and E. Sandpiper Rd.  site is included 

with this staff report. 

Appraisals: 

Marshall Lake site:      $2,812,500 

S.E. corner of N. Park Ave. & E. Sandpiper Rd. site: $1,267,500 

 

Once the appraisals were completed, qualifying bids are needed for a sale to occur.  A bid process was 

followed to sell the properties.  A 1% deposit was required and will be applied to the purchase price. 

In accordance with the SE Park Ave. & Sandpiper Rd. bid FOR SALE sheet, the maximum due diligence 

time prior to closing is 60 days (2 month) from the date of the bid approval by City Council. 

 

The future land use on this site is Commercial and the zoning is C-1, Retail Commercial District. 

 

 

 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

49



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 18, 2017 
SURPLUS LAND FOR SALE BID APPROVAL 
PAGE 2 

 

 

 

Qualifying bid and information are shown. 

 

N. Park Ave. & E. Sandpiper Rd. site (bid): 

Purchaser Bid Price Deposit 

Check 

Information 

Wekiva Capital Partners, LLC $ 1,300,000 $ 13,000 Normal purchase expectations 

 

Wekiva Capital Partners, LLC has proposed an accelerated inspection period of 45 days and closing within 

15 days after the inspection period. 

 

  

FUNDING SOURCE:   

N/A 

   

RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

Approve the bid offer for the N. Park Ave. & E. Sandpiper Rd. site as noted; direct staff to complete the 

purchase process as outlined in the FOR SALE sheet, and in accordance with the bidder’s offer; and, permit 

staff to allow an extra month if needed by the buyer for any unforeseen circumstances. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

\\apk-fs1\users$\jhitt\Documents\APK City Property\Surplus\Park & Sandpiper (SE) ~ Marshall Lake\Park & Sandpiper site\SE Park & Sandpiper~Bid Approval 

CC10-18-17\Surplus Land FOR SALE Park-Sandpiper bid approval staff report CC10-18-17.docx 

 

50



FOR SALE 
City of Apopka ~ vacant land  $1,267,500 (appraised) 

 
Location:  SE corner of N. Park Ave. (Rock Springs Road) & E. Sandpiper Rd. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Future Land Use:   Commercial 
Zoning:        C-1 
 
Acres:      8.45 +/- Property Tax ID:     03-21-28-0000-00-035 
Address:    751 N. Park Ave. 
 
Utilities: 
Water:   8” PVC of Park Ave. (West side of site) 
Sewer:   8” PVC of Sandpiper Rd. (North side of site) 
 10” PVC gravity on Park Ave. (West side of road) 
Reuse:  Not available 

 
 
 
 

E. SANDPIPER RD 

N
. 
P

A
R

K
 A

V
E

 

Contact: 
James Hitt 
Community Development Director 
City of Apopka 
120 E. Main Street 
Apopka, FL 32703 
jhitt@Apopka.net  
407-703-1712 

51



 
Bids / Offers: 

 Bids may be submitted in a sealed envelope to the contact person listed (James Hitt) no 
later than September 29 2017 at 4:00 P.M. 
 

 Refundable Deposit:  1% of bid (or more depending on bid offer) with a Minimum bid of 
$1,267,500 required.  Banker/cashier’s check only. 
Financing is not applicable to this sale. 

 Normal closing costs and fees as applicable by each party. 
 

 Bid submittal package/offer clearly marked: 
 “City of Apopka Park Ave./Sandpiper Rd. Site” 

 

 Mailed or delivered directly to: 
James Hitt, Community Development Director 
City of Apopka 
120 E. Main Street, 2nd floor 
Apopka, FL 32702 

 
A copy of the appraisal report will be provided upon request. 
 
Bids must be approved by the Apopka City Council and any sale shall be final upon approval 
and full payment.  Final sale must occur within two (2) months of bid approval by City Council. 
 
Future Land Use and Zoning changes may be applied for provided they meet the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning requirements.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\apk-fs1\users$\jhitt\Documents\APK City Property\Surplus\Park & Sandpiper (SE) ~ Marshall Lake\SE Park & Sandpiper site\Park & Sandpiper - FOR SALE 

sheet 2.docx 

52



53



54



55



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

5. Approval of the Johns Road Maintenance Map.   Richard Earp 
 

  

56



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Road Maintenance Map 

X OTHER:    
  
SUBJECT:  JOHNS ROAD MAINTENANCE MAP 
    
REQUEST:  APPROVAL OF THE JOHNS ROAD MAINTENANCE MAP  
 

SUMMARY:  
 
OWNER:   Johns Inc. 
 
APPLICANT:   City of Apopka 
 
LOCATION:   735 Johns Rd 

West of S.R. 451, North of Ocoee Apopka Road 
Parcel ID# 08-21-28-0000-00-021  

 
EXISTING USE:  Roadway 
 
PROPOSED USE:  Roadway 
 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: 

 

The Maintenance Map for JOHN’S ROAD defines the limits of the City of Apopka’s ongoing and historic 

maintenance of this paved roadway.  John’s Road has existed in its present location and clearly appears in aerial 

photographs taken between 2006 to 2017.  The street provides access from Bradshaw Road and has been used 

by the public, generally and more particularly by the residents of the immediate area.  The Maintenance Map 

includes 0.780 acres of parcel number 08-21-28-0000-00-021, currently owned by Johns Inc, 390 Alberta Drive, 

Winter Park, FL  32789-3904.  This property owner has been notified of this public hearing via US Postal Service 

Certified Mail. 
  
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
October 18, 2017 – City Council (7:00 pm) 
 
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the JOHN’S ROAD MAINTENANCE MAP. 
 
City Council Recommended Motion:  Approve the JOHN’S ROAD MAINTENANCE MAP. 
 
 
FUNDING SOURCE:  
 
N/A  
 

DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  57



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 18, 2017 
JOHNS ROAD MAINTENANCE MAP  
PAGE 2 

 
 

Johns Inc 

735 Johns Road 

Parcel ID # 08-21-28-0000-00-021 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Johns Road item 

58



59



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

1. Ordinance No. 2603 – Second Reading - Annexation - Legislative      David Moon  
Project: Irmalee Lane Right-of-Way, located north of McCormick Road and east of State Road 429.  
 

  

60



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Ordinance No. 2603 

X OTHER: Ordinance   Vicinity Map 
  
SUBJECT:  2017 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 4 

   

REQUEST:  SECOND READING AND ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2603 – 

IRMALEE LANE ANNEXATION. 
  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNER:  Orange County Board of County Commissioners 

 

APPLICANT;  City of Apopka Community Development Department 

 

LOCATION:  North of McCormick Road and East of State Road 429 

 

EXISTING USE: Public Road 

 

TRACT SIZE:  6.5 +/- acre 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The proposed annexation will result in a change of ownership for the 
Irmalee Lane Public Right-of-Way from the Orange County Board of County Commissioners to the City 
of Apopka. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 15 days prior to 
the first reading of any annexation ordinance.  The City provided notification to the County on July 18, 
2017. 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
September 15, 2017 
September 29, 2017 
November 3, 2017 
         
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
October 4, 2017 (1:30 pm) - City Council 1st Reading 
October 18, 2017 (7:00 pm) - City Council 2nd Reading and Adoption 
 
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
 

 
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
 
 61



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 18, 2017 
2017 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 4 
PAGE 2 

 
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the annexation for the Irmalee Lane Public 
Right-of-Way.  
 
The City Council, at its meeting on October 4, 2017, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2603 
and held it over for Second Reading and Adoption on October 18, 2017 
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2603. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 18, 2017 
2017 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 4 
PAGE 3 

 
 

VICINITY MAP 
Irmalee Lane Public Right-of-Way 

 
 
 

63



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2603 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 

TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 

PUBLIC RIGHT-OF- WAY KNOW AS IRMALEE LANE SITUATED AND 

BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, LOCATED GENERALLY 

EAST OF STATE ROAD 429 AND NORTH OF MCCORMICK ROAD, AND 

COMPRISED OF APPROXIMATELY 6.5 ACRES; OWNED BY ORANGE 

COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS; PROVIDING FOR 

DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, 

AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 

WHEREAS,  the Orange County Board of County Commissioners has requested that the 

City of Apopka, Florida, annex the Irmalee Lane Right-of-Way located east of State Road 429 and 

north of McCormick Road; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 6.5 +/- acre, and graphically depicted by the attached Exhibit "A”, is hereby 

annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary annexation provisions of 

Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

Legal Descriptions:  Provided within Exhibit “A”. 

 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are hereby 

redefined to include said land herein described and annexed 

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

64



ORDINANCE NO. 2603 

PAGE 2  

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: August 25, 2017, September 8, 2017 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: October 4, 2017 

 

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED:     October 18, 2017 

 

 

  

Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor 

65



 

66



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

2. Ordinance No. 2602 – First Reading – Corrective Ordinance – Kelly Park Crossing DRI-DO - Quasi-Judicial  
 James Hitt 
Project:  Kelly Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact Development Order.  
 

  

67



 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

X PUBLIC HEARING  MEETING OF: October 18, 2017 
 SITE PLAN  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Ord. No. 2602 
X OTHER: Ordinance   Exhibit A-description & Map 
    Exhibit B-Development 
      Order (DO) 

Exhibit C- DO clean copy 
  
SUBJECT:    CORRECTIVE ORDINANCE FOR THE KELLY PARK CROSSING 

DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT (DRI) DEVELOPMENT ORDER, 
FIRST AMENDMENT 

    
REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2602 – OF THE PROPOSED 

CORRECTIVE ORDINANCE TO THE KELLY PARK CROSSING 
DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT (DRI) DEVELOPMENT ORDER, 
FIRST AMENDMENT 

  

SUMMARY:  

OWNERS: Several property owners as identified with the DRI Application for Development 

Approval 

APPLICANT: Rochelle Holdings, LLC – Project Orlando, LLC 

LOCATION: Location identified on maps within exhibits of the Development Order (DO) 

EXISTING USE: Vacant land; agriculture; single family homesteads 

FUTURE LAND USE: Mixed Use Interchange (as Set Forth within Exhibit B & C of the Development 

Order).  This amendment does not change the approved land use, development 

densities or intensities, or development profile. 

PURPOSE: Corrective Ordinance for the following items: 

a. Name in the title blocks returned to Project Orlando LLC 

b. Page Numbers added to DO 

c. Item numbering corrected 

ACREGE:  564 +/- acres (No change)  
 

QUICK FIND: Pages of the Development Order where corrections are located: Ord. No. 2602 and 
Development Order (Exhibit B & C) title blocks; DO page 4; DO page 19 start item 
number corrections at #14 Affordable Housing, (23 items, not 22). 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:   
 
N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

68



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 18 and November 1, 2017 
KELLY PARK CROSSING DRI FIRST AMENDMENT - corrections 
PAGE 2 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Last May 17, 2017 Apopka approved Ord. No. 2564 as the first amendment to the Development Order 

(original Ord. No. 2230).   

  

In reviewing the Ordinance 2564, staff recognized that the Developer name Project Orlando, LLC had been 

switched between the first reading and second reading, to Rochelle Holdings, LLC, at the request of Jeff 

Welch from Rochelle Holdings, LLC.  The second reading was advertised with that name, but since 

Rochelle Holdings, LLC is not an owner in the DRI, the change should not have been completed.  Basically, 

Project Orlando, LLC should have been left in the titles. 

 

In addition, page numbers in the Development Order (DO) were omitted and the item numbers were miss-

numbered 1-22, rather than 1-23. 

 

Ordinance No. 2602 is considered a corrective ordinance which was reviewed by the State’s Department of 

Economic Opportunity (DEO).  The proposed changes reviewed included putting back Project Orlando, 

LLC into the titles; page numbers missing; and, the item numbers were not correct after number 14 

Affordable Housing (content was correct).  Advertising is consistent with Apopka’s approved process.  This 

Ordinance No. 2602 is considered an (e)2.a. amendment pursuant to Section 380.06(19)(e)2.a, Florida 

Statutes.  

  

All the remaining data and text remains the same in the Development Order. 

  

Three things are completed with this corrective Ordinance No. 2602: 

 Name in the title block is back to Project Orlando LLC 

 Page Numbers added to DO 

 Item numbering corrected. 

  
 
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
Corrective items to be approved: 

 Title blocks in Ord. 2602 and the Development Order (Exhibit B) returned to Project Orlando, LLC. 

 

 Development Order – page numbers added. 

 

 Item numbers 1-23 corrected from 1-22, starting at # 14 Affordable Housing. 

 
Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2602 and hold it Over for Second Reading and Adoption on 
November 1, 2017. 
 
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 

 

 
69



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 18 and November 1, 2017 
KELLY PARK CROSSING DRI FIRST AMENDMENT - corrections 
PAGE 3 

 

 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

70



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 18 and November 1, 2017 
KELLY PARK CROSSING DRI FIRST AMENDMENT - corrections 
PAGE 4 

 

 

WEKIVA PARKWAY INTERCHANGE VISION PLAN  
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

\\apk-fs1\users$\jhitt\Documents\Developments\Wekiva Interchange\DRI Kelly Park Crossings\KPC DRI Amend 2\11-1-17 adoption items\Amended Kelly 

Park Crossing DO  1st Hearing staff report CC10-18-17.docx 

71



ORDINANCE NO. 2602 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AND CORRECTING ORDINANCE NO. 

2564; AMENDING AND CORRECTING THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

THE KELLY PARK CROSSING DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT 

DEVELOPMENT ORDER; CLARIFYING THAT PROJECT ORLANDO, 

LLC IS THE  APPLICANT AND DEVELOPER FOR THE KELLY PARK 

CROSSING DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT; CORRECTING 

ORDINANCE NO. 2564 BY REPEALING AND REPLACING SAME AND 

REPEALING AND REPLACING ORDINANCE NO. 2230; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 

This is a Corrective Ordinance amending and correcting Ordinance No. 2564, and the First 

Amendment to the Development Order for the Kelly Park Crossing Development of Regional 

Impact (“DRI” or “Kelly Park Crossing DRI”) adopted May 17, 2017. 

WHEREAS, the original Development Order for the DRI was adopted by the City Council 

of the City of Apopka by Ordinance No. 2230 on December 21, 2011 (the “2011 Development 

Order”) concerning a mixed use project located on approximately 564 acres in the City as more 

particularly described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “DRI 

Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2230 adopted the 2011 Development Order; and 

WHEREAS, Project Orlando, LLC was and is the “Applicant” and “Developer” for the 

DRI (hereinafter referred to as the “Applicant/Developer”); and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant/Developer is desirous of developing the Kelly Park Crossing 

DRI as a mixed use development consisting of office, retail, light industrial, residential, 

institutional, hospital, community college, hotel and as otherwise allowed through the 2011 

Development Order; and 

WHEREAS, prior to adoption of Ordinance No. 2564 on May 17, 2017, the 

Applicant/Developer requested amendments to the 2011 Development Order pursuant to Section 

380.06, Florida Statutes, some of which amendments were not a part of or included in the Notice 

72



ORDINANCE NO. 2602 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT - 

CORRECTED 

PAGE 2 

 

of Proposed Change (“NOPC”) to the 2011 Development Order; and  

WHEREAS, the City processed the Applicant/Developer’s request for amendments, some 

of which amendments were reviewed by the East Central Florida Regional Planning Council 

(ECFRPC), the Development and Review Committee of the City of Apopka, the City of Apopka 

Planning Commission, and the City Council of the City of Apopka; and 

 WHEREAS, on May 17, 2017, the City of Apopka adopted Ordinance No. 2564 which 

amended, repealed and replaced Ordinance No. 2230 with the First Amendment to the Kelly Park 

Crossing Development of Regional Impact (the “Amended Development Order”); and 

 WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2564, as adopted, contained an error in its title; and 

 WHEREAS, the Amended Development Order adopted by Ordinance No. 2564 contained 

errors regarding the identity of the Applicant/Developer; and  

 WHEREAS, these errors were not present or included in the proposed amendments to the 

2011 Development Order as set forth in the NOPC reviewed by ECFRPC, the Development and 

Review Committee of the City of Apopka, the City of Apopka Planning Commission at its public 

hearing on April 11, 2017, and the City Council of the City of Apopka at its first reading of 

Ordinance No. 2564 on May 3, 2017; and 

 WHEREAS, these errors were introduced into Ordinance No. 2564 and the Amended 

Development Order immediately prior to second reading by the City Council of the City of Apopka 

on May 17, 2017; and  

 WHEREAS, specifically in error, the title of Ordinance No. 2564 provides that it was 

made and entered into between the City and Rochelle Holdings, LLC, while the recitals of 

Ordinance No. 2564 state that Project Orlando, LLC is the “Applicant” for the Amended 

Development Order; and 

73



ORDINANCE NO. 2602 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT - 

CORRECTED 

PAGE 3 

 

WHEREAS, specifically in error, the Amended Development Order attached to Ordinance 

No. 2564 states that the Amended Development Order is made and entered into between the City 

and Rochelle Holdings, LLC; and 

WHEREAS, specifically in error, the recitals of the Amended Development Order 

attached to Ordinance No. 2564 state that the “Applicant” and “Developer” of the DRI is Rochelle 

Holdings, LLC; and 

WHEREAS, the Amended Development Order contained typographical errors such as 

misnumbered pages and sections; and  

WHEREAS, this Ordinance (Ordinance No. 2602) is intended to amend and correct these 

errors and amend and correct the Amended Development Order to read as intended for adoption 

by the City Council of the City of Apopka on May 17, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, attached hereto as Exhibit “B” is a document correcting the title and 

“whereas” clauses of the Amended Development Order and correcting errors in the body of the 

Amended Development Order to read substantively as it should have been adopted by Ordinance 

No. 2564 (with changes to the 2011 Development Order identified in strikethrough and underline); 

and  

WHEREAS, Exhibit “C,” attached hereto, is a clean version of and incorporates the 

amendments shown in Exhibit “B,” and shall heretofore be referred to as the “Corrected First 

Amendment to the Kelly Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact;” and 

WHEREAS, the substantive provisions of the Corrected First Amendment to the Kelly 

Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact were reviewed by ECFRPC and comments were 

provided to the Applicant/Developer and the City of Apopka on December 22, 2016; and 

 

74



ORDINANCE NO. 2602 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT - 

CORRECTED 

PAGE 4 

 

WHEREAS, the substantive provisions of the Corrected First Amendment to the Kelly 

Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact were coordinated by the City and the 

Applicant/Developer with the City’s Comprehensive Plan including the Wekiva Parkway 

Interchange Vision Plan, and 

WHEREAS, all public hearings as required by Chapter 380.06, Florida Statutes have been 

duly held affording the public and all affected parties an opportunity to be heard and to present 

evidence; and 

WHEREAS, this Ordinance (Ordinance No. 2602) is intended to repeal and replace 

Ordinance No. 2564, which repealed and replaced Ordinance No. 2230; and  

WHEREAS, Exhibit “C” shall be adopted and heretofore referred to as the “Corrected 

First Amendment to the Kelly Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact.” 

LEGISLATIVE UNDERSCORING: Underlined words constitute additions and strikethrough 

constitutes deletions from the 201l Development Order, as identified within Exhibit “B.”   Exhibit 

“C” is a clean version of the Corrected First Amendment to the Kelly Park Crossing Development 

of Regional Impact as amended and corrected by this Ordinance (Ordinance No. 2602). 

 NOW THEREFORE, be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Apopka that based 

upon the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth below and subject to the terms and 

conditions which follow, the Corrected First Amendment to the Kelly Park Crossing Development 

of Regional Impact attached hereto as Exhibit “C” is hereby approved and amended accordingly 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 380.06, Florida Statutes, and other applicable State laws and 

the Comprehensive Plan and Ordinances of the City of Apopka. 

SECTION 1. The above recitals are incorporated herein by reference. 

SECTION 2. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. 

75



ORDINANCE NO. 2602 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT - 

CORRECTED 

PAGE 5 

 

1.   The Applicant/Developer filed the ADA (Application for Development Approval) with the City 

and with the ECFRPC as well as Department of Community Affairs (now the Department of 

Economic Opportunity) pursuant to Chapter 2011, Laws of Florida the” Community Planning 

Act” and State and Federal agencies and citizen groups as directed by the ECFRPC. 

2.   The City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Development Order for Kelly Park 

Crossing DRI on December 21, 2011 through Ordinance No. 2230.   

3.  The Applicant/Developer is the owner of the real property identified herein or has the authority 

to file the ADA and is authorized to obtain a development order pursuant to Chapter 380.06 

Florida Statutes.  

4.   The DRI and area affected by the amendment is not located in an area designated as an Area 

of Critical State Concern. 

5.   The DRI and the amendment is consistent with the adopted State Comprehensive Plan 

6.  The DRI and amendment including the proposed floor area ratios is consistent with the City 

Comprehensive Plan. 

7.  The DRI is consistent with the Land Development Code in effect as of the date of the adoption 

of this Ordinance. 

8.  The DRI is consistent with the report and recommendations of the ECFRPC submitted to the 

City in December, 2016. 

9.   This amendment to the DRI Development Order does not change any density or intensities of 

use, Map “H” Master Plan, or the development profile established in Ordinance No. 2230. 

 
SECTION 3.  Ordinance No. 2230 and Ordinance No. 2564 are both amended, repealed 

and replaced by this Ordinance (Ordinance No. 2602) and the Development Order contained herein 

76



ORDINANCE NO. 2602 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT - 

CORRECTED 

PAGE 6 

 

as Exhibit “C” to this Ordinance is hereby adopted as the “Corrected First Amendment to the Kelly 

Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact” and incorporated herein by reference. 

SECTION 4. This Ordinance serves to clarify that Project Orlando, LLC is the Applicant 

and Developer for the DRI, and is the “Developer” of the DRI as defined in Chapter 380, Florida 

Statutes.  

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall take effect upon passage and 

adoption. 

 

READ FIRST TIME: October 18, 2017 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

November 1, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

Joseph E. Kilsheimer, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Cliff Shepard, City Attorney 
 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: October 6, 2017 

       October 20, 2017 

APPROVED as to form and legality 

for use and reliance by the City of 

Apopka, Florida. 

 

77



Exhibit A  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

78



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

79



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

81



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

82



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

\\apk-fs1\users$\jhitt\Documents\Developments\Wekiva Parkway Development\DRI Kelly Park Crossings\KPC DRI Amend 2\Ord 2602 

Amended KPC Development Order.docx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

83



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

84



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

85



ORDINANCE NO. 2602, EXHIBIT A 

KELLY PARK CROSSING - DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT, FIRST AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

\\apk-fs1\users$\jhitt\Documents\Developments\Wekiva Parkway Development\DRI Kelly Park Crossings\KPC DRI Amend 2\Exhibit A Ord 

2602 Kelly Park Crossing Legal Description DO 11-1-2017.docx 

86



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 1 

Corrected First Amendment to the 

Kelly Park Crossing 

Development of Regional Impact   
  

THIS DEVELOPMENT ORDER is ADOPTED this 1st day of 

November, 2017 and made effective as of May 17, 2017, by the 

CITY OF APOPKA, a municipal corporation organized under 

the Laws of the State of Florida, whose address is 120 East Main 

Street, Apopka, Florida, 32701-1229, hereinafter referred to as 

the “City”, upon request from PROJECT ORLANDO, LLC, a 

Florida limited liability corporation, whose address is 1900 

Summit Tower Boulevard, Suite 820, Orlando, Florida.  Project 

Orlando, LLC is hereinafter referred to as the “Applicant” 

and/or “Developer”. 

 

WHEREAS, this Corrected Amended Development Order is for the Kelly Park Crossing 

Development of Regional Impact (“DRI” or “Kelly Park Crossing DRI”) and is referred to as the 

Corrected First Amendment to the Kelly Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact 

(hereinafter, the “Development Order”); and 

WHEREAS, the Development Order concerns a mixed use project located on 

approximately 564 acres in the City, as more particularly described on Exhibit A, attached hereto 

and(hereinafter referred to as the “DRI Property”), and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant for the DRI is Project Orlando, LLC, and for purposes of this 

Development Order and for Chapter 380, Florida Statutes, Project Orlando, LLC, constitutes the 

“Developer.” The agent for the DRI is Jeff Welch; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant is desirous of developing the Kelly Park Crossing DRI as a 

mixed use development consisting of office, retail, light industrial, residential, institutional, 

hospital, community college, and hotel; and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an Application for Development Approval pursuant 

to Chapter 380.06, Florida Statutes on December 22, 2010, which was amended by the Response 

87



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 2 

to Requests for Additional Information, dated March, 2011, and the Second Response to Requests 

for Additional Information, dated June, 2011 (collectively, the “ADA”); and 

 WHEREAS, the ADA was reviewed and approved by the East Central Florida Regional 

Planning Council (“ECFRPC”) on August 17, 2011, and  

WHEREAS, the ADA contained a master plan, identified as Map H herein and attached 

as Exhibit B, which was reviewed simultaneously with the ADA; and  

WHEREAS, the ADA was coordinated by the City and the Applicant with the City’s 

adopted Comprehensive Plan including the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, 

WHEREAS, all public hearings as required by Chapter 380.06, Florida Statutes, were duly 

noticed and held, affording the public and all affected parties an opportunity to be heard and to 

present evidence; 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Apopka, that based 

upon the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth below and subject to the terms and 

conditions which follow, the ADA for Kelly Park Crossings, including Map H (Exhibit B), is 

hereby approved, pursuant to the provisions of Section 380.06, Florida Statutes, and other 

applicable state laws and the Comprehensive Plan, codes and ordinances of the City. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Applicant filed the ADA with the City and with the ECFRPC as well as Department 

of Community Affairs (now the Department of Economic Opportunity pursuant to Chapter 

2011 Laws of Florida, the “Community Planning Act”) and State and Federal agencies and 

citizen groups as directed by the ECFRPC. 

88



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 3 

2. The Applicant is the owner of the real property identified herein, or has the authority to 

file the ADA and is authorized to obtain a development order pursuant to Chapter 380.06, 

Florida Statutes. 

3. The DRI is not located in an area designated as an Area of Critical State Concern; 

4. The DRI is consistent with the adopted State Comprehensive Plan. 

5. The DRI including the proposed floor area ratios, is consistent with the City 

Comprehensive Plan. 

6. The DRI is consistent with the Land Development Code. 

7. The DRI is consistent with the report and recommendations of the ECFRPC submitted 

pursuant to subsection 380.06(12). 

 
 

 
  

89



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 4 

INDEX OF CONDITIONS 

 

1. Application for Development Approval……………………………………………… 5 

2. Project Description…………………………………………………………………… 5 

3. Rezoning……………………………………………………………………………… 7 

4. Form Based Code ……………………………………………………………………. 8 

5. Conversion of Uses…………………………………………………………………… 9 

6. Vegetation and Wildlife……………………………………………………………. . 10 

7. Recreation/Parks ……………………………………………………………………. 13 

8. Water Supply and Water Conservation……………………………………………… 14 

9. Wastewater Management……………………………………………………………. 15 

10. Stormwater Management……………………………………………………………  16 

11. Energy & Technology……………………………………………………………….  16 

12. Solid Waste………………………………………………………………………….  16 

13. Fire, Police, EMS……………………………………………………………………  17 

14. Affordable Housing…………………………………………………………………  17 

15. Education……………………………………………………………………………  17 

16. Transportation………………………………………………………………………  18 

17. Historical and Archaeological Sites………………………………………………...  32 

18. Green Development Standards……………………………………………………… 33 

19. Outdoor Lighting……………………………………………………………………. 33 

20. Monitoring Official and Procedures………………………………………………… 34 

21. Phasing and Buildout………………………………………………………………..  34 

22. Biennial Reporting Requirement……………………………………………………  35 

23. Downzoning Protection……………………………………………………………..  36 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT LIST 

 

Exhibit A – Property Description & Boundary Survey…………………………….  39 

Exhibit B – Master Development Plan Map ……………………………………….  48 

Exhibit C – Land Use Equivalency Matrix…………………………………………  49 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

90



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 5 

CONDITIONS 

1. Application for Development Approval. The DRI  is approved subject to the following 

conditions: 

A. The DRI Development Order shall govern the development of the DRI Property. 

B. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall be developed in accordance with the information, 

data, plans and commitments contained in the ADA which includes supplemental 

information provided in the Responses to Requests for Additional Information all of 

which are incorporated herein by reference, unless otherwise provided by these 

recommendations.  The final DRI Development Order shall prevail over any conflicting 

information, data, plan, or commitments. The second response shall prevail over the 

first response and the first response shall prevail over the original application. For 

purposes of this condition, the ADA shall consist of the following items: 

a. Application for Development Approval dated December 23, 2010 

b. Responses to Requests for Additional Information #1 dated March 29, 2011 

c. Responses to Requests for Additional Information #2 dated June 10, 2011 

2. Project Description. 

The DRI is designed to be a mixed-use, high density/intensity development centered around 

the Kelly Park Road interchange of the proposed Wekiva Parkway.  As envisioned in the 

Wekiva Parkway Protection Act (§369.314, Florida Statutes et. seq.) and the City ’s Wekiva 

Parkway Interchange Vision Plan within the City Comprehensive Plan, the DRI Master 

Development Plan, attached as Exhibit B, calls for intense development proximate to the 

interchange with densities and intensities decreasing further from the interchange. Mixed use 

91



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 6 

buildings are allowed throughout the DRI except in those areas designated “Neighborhood” as 

depicted on Map H (Exhibit B). (Legal Description Exhibit A), 

 

The development program presented by the Applicant and herein approved includes: 

Land Use Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4 Total 
Development 

FAR Approximate 
Acres* 

Office 100,000 SF 540,000 SF 641,000 SF 639,996 SF 1,920,996 SF 0.4 84.25 

Light Industrial 200,000 SF 3,330,000 
SF 

1,000,000 
SF 

727,200 SF 5,227,200 SF 0.6 178.00 

Retail/Commercial 100,000 SF 450,000 SF 550,000 SF 272,140 SF 1,372,140 SF 0.3 77.00 

Community 
College 

 

130,680 SF 

 

-- 

   

130,680 SF 

0.3  

20.00 

Medical -- 250,000 SF 272,720 SF  522,720 SF 0.4 30.00 

Residential 300 DU 400 DU 400 DU 450 DU 1,550 DU 10du/ac 58.00 

Conservation       *See footnote 
below. 

Parks 40 Acres 33 Acres 20.75 
Acres 

-- 93.75 Acres 15 % 93.75 

Institutional 50,000 SF 50,000 SF 60,000 SF 14,240 SF 174,240 SF 0.4 8.00 

Hotel -- 100 RMS 100 RMS 200 RMS 400 RMS 0.4 15.00 

 

(* Conservation land use is estimated at 35 to 45 acres and will be identified at the Master 

Site Plan submittal.  Conservation acreage assigned internal to the DRI may result in 

reduced acreage for those land uses affected by the designation of conservation acreage.  

The acreage for any land use may be modified and the location of the conservation lands 

altered without the need for further development-of-regional-impact review if 

implemented by Condition 5 or 6 contained herein, as applicable. As set forth in Condition 

5, designation of conservation lands may also be satisfied through off-site mitigation.)  

 (*Conservation land use (estimated at 35 to 45 acres) will be revised once the conservation 

lands are identified at Master Site Plan submittal.  The acreage assigned to lands uses may 

92



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 7 

be increased and the location of the conservation lands altered without the need for further 

development-of-regional-impact review if implemented by condition 5 contained herein.)  

 

3. Rezoning.  

A. The City acknowledges that the development of the DRI Property will occur over time 

and in phases.  The City agrees that due to the size and scope of the proposed 

development, the duration of the phasing plan, and the uncertainties in the timeframe 

for construction of the Wekiva Parkway, the Applicant shall be entitled to effect a 

rezoning for specific parcels or increments of the DRI Property prior to physical 

development within increment being undertaken (“Incremental Rezoning”).  Either 

before or at the time of submittal of an application for the first Incremental Rezoning, 

the Applicant shall also submit a conceptual rezoning master plan for the entire DRI 

Property which shall address conceptually the location of the various uses allowed, 

including common areas and open space, densities and intensities for permitted uses, 

traffic circulation for internal roadways, all in conformance with Map H (Exhibit B) 

and the ADA. Further refinement and detailing of the conceptual rezoning master plan 

as well as a demonstration of conformance with the City’s Land Development Code 

and the Form Based Code shall be demonstrated within each Incremental Rezoning 

application. Additionally, each Incremental Rezoning applicable to DRI Property 

located north of Kelly Park Road shall address the feasibility of establishing roadway 

connections to other properties designated on the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 

Plan, and to establish future connection between the DRI and Round Lake Road.  

Nothing in this development order shall be construed in such a way as to require the 

93



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 8 

applicant/developer to purchase additional properties outside of the Kelly Park 

Crossing DRI in order to obtain such connections. 

B. The DRI Property is currently utilized for agricultural and silvicultural activities.  To 

ensure compatibility between existing and proposed uses, no new or expanded 

agricultural or silvicultural activity may occur within one hundred (100) feet of those 

increments of the DRI Property rezoned pursuant to this section. 

C. The successful implementation of this development order is dependent upon 

rezoning(s) which, in turn, will require the successful implementation of agreements 

between the Applicant and City for water ,sewer, parks, and recreation, police and fire 

(generally referred to as “binding developer’s agreements).  Such agreements are 

referenced throughout this development order.  All such agreements shall be consistent 

with City requirements as may be identified in the City’s Land Development 

Regulations or other adopted ordinance as well as requirements established by State 

Law to include Chapter 380.06 (15)(e) 1. 

4. Form Based Code.  The Applicant shall be subject to the Form-Based Code being developed 

by the City for all lands within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. The Form-Based 

Code shall include a master site plan development option (known as Option “B”) for non-

residential development   This Option shall be available for (1) development proposing 

building(s) exceeding 40,000 gross square feet of floor area for larger-scale commercial, 

industrial, and institutional uses; and (2).   office parks, industrial parks, and retail centers 

greater than fifteen (15) acres in size, for college campuses (with or without on-site residential 

housing), hotel convention centers, and hospital campuses greater than eight (8) acres in size. 

The Option “B” master site plan shall be consistent with the Form-Based Code design 

94



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 9 

standards for this development option. This Option “B” master site plan shall demonstrate 

compatibility and connectivity with adjacent districts and road systems.  The developer 

requesting an Option “B” master site plan shall demonstrate that average wages and salaries 

for jobs created by the new development are equal to or greater than the average wages and 

salaries existing in Apopka at the latest decennial U.S. Census or such other data as may be 

acceptable to the City.  

5. Conversion of Uses.  

A. The Applicant may increase or decrease the amount of a particular land use within the 

approved development program by using the Equivalency Matrix attached as Exhibit 

C, which is based on equivalent peak hour directional trip ends and is included herein.  

In order to ensure that a mix of uses is maintained, use of the Equivalency Matrix may 

increase or decrease the total amount of each land use by no more than the amount 

provided for in the Land Use Mix Table at Exhibit C, and consistent with the 

substantial deviation criteria identified in Chapter 380.06(19)(b) 1-14, Florida Statutes, 

unless the Development Order is amended to accommodate such a change.  Greater 

changes than those discussed above shall be considered cumulatively, and shall be 

subject to normal Development Order amendment processes. 

B. Additionally, changes in land use must address changes to potable water usage and 

identify if the potable water capacity and allocation under the applicable consumptive 

use permit are available.  Any time the Equivalency Matrix is used, DEO, ECFRPC, 

the City, Orange County, the FDOT, the SJRWMD, and the School Board of Orange 

County must be provided notice of the proposal at least thirty (30) days in advance of 

the change.  Use of the Equivalency Matrix will be reported on an individual and 

95



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 10 

cumulative basis and impacts documented in the biennial report.  Any future Notice of 

Proposed Change (“NOPC”) shall incorporate any changes occurring due to the use of 

the Equivalency matrix. 

6. Vegetation and Wildlife. 

A. Listed Species. Site development activities on the Property shall not result in the 

harming, pursuit or harassment of wildlife species classified as endangered, threatened 

or a species of special concern (“listed species”) in contravention of applicable State or 

Federal laws.  Should such listed species be at any time determined to be nesting or 

residing on, or otherwise significantly dependent upon the DRI site, the Applicant shall 

notify FWC, and or FWS, as applicable and to the extent required by laws and 

regulations, the Applicant shall cease all activities which might negatively affect that 

individual or population.  The Applicant shall provide proper protection, to the 

satisfaction of all agencies with jurisdiction, as required by statute or regulation. 

"Harming" and "harassment" as used in this recommendation shall be defined in the 

same manner as "harm" and "harass" respectively are defined in 50 CFR Section 17.3.   

B. Preserve Areas. The Applicant may elect to develop the 14 acres, currently designated 

on Map H (Exhibit B) as “preservation”, located south of Kelly Park Road, and, if such 

an election is made, shall will  establish a preserve for the protection of gopher tortoises, 

Sherman’s fox squirrel and other listed species and indigenous wildlife in the northwest 

portion of the DRI as provided for in the report and recommendations of the ECFRPC. 

 

Development of the 14-acre area is contingent on other necessary approvals for 

development  (including those identified in this condition) being obtained from the 

96



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 11 

SJRWMD, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation 

Commission, and the Department of Environmental Protection, as may be required by 

law.   

 

Pursuing this option will add an additional 107 acres, less approximately a 300 foot 

strip along the eastern property boundary to access Ondich Road, to the 31 acre 

preserve in the northwest portion of the site and allow development of the 14-acre area 

near the proposed interchange.   

 

As a part of the approval process for the conceptual rezoning master plan referenced in 

Condition 3 (A), the City and the Applicant shall reach an open space and parks 

agreement to preserve a minimum of 45 acres to a maximum of 107 acres for a 

preservation area. This agreement shall consider the appropriate acreage needs for a 

viable preservation area while also considering the park and open space needs for 

people who live and work within the Kelly Park DRI . The maximum preservation area 

obligation by the Applicant is 107 acres.  Any acreage above the 45 minimum acres up 

to the maximum of 107 acres will receive a credit towards 50% of the open space 

requirements set forth in the Form-Based Code. Any land set aside for the minimum 

active recreation area shall not qualify as credit. 

 

As an alternative to land preservation internal to the DRI, preservation may be satisfied 

through off-site preservation if an off-site mitigation program is jointly accepted by the 

City and FDEP after consultation with the FFWCC. 

97



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 12 

 

C. If a preserve is established, the following principles and guidelines shall be applied via 

a management plan to be established by the Applicant, reviewed by State permitting 

agencies, the City, Orange County, and the ECFRPC, as a non-substantial deviation 

processed as a NOPC. The management plan does not relieve the Applicant of any 

State or Federal permitting requirements. 

a. The location of the preserve is to include the existing temperate hardwoods and the 

improved pasture west and north of the temperate hardwoods, in the northern 

portion of the development (approximately 100 acres). 

b. Mowing, controlled burning or livestock grazing are to be utilized to maintain 

vegetation height suitable for gopher tortoises, Sherman’s fox squirrels and 

foraging by sandhill cranes. 

c. Pines, preferably longleaf pine, are to be planted in low densities to increase plant 

diversity and structure for nesting for Sherman’s fox squirrel.  Pines are not to be 

planted in densities that would impact gopher tortoises. 

d. Pedestrian trails and trail infrastructure that do not impact listed species are 

recommended. 

e. The road, currently shown on Map H (Exhibit B) shall be relocated such that it 

does not intersect the temperate hardwood area, but is moved eastward closer to the 

eastern property line. 

f. Wetland buffers shall be consistent with the requirements of State permitting 

agencies or the requirements of the City, whichever is more stringent. 

g. Drought tolerant plants adapted to site conditions shall be utilized. 

98



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 13 

h. The Applicant shall identify recreation uses that will be allowed in conservation 

areas. 

The Management Plan shall also include the following components: 

i. Provide for management of gopher tortoises consistent with applicable Florida law. 

j. Establish protocols for exotic and nuisance wildlife and plant control. 

k. Establish a bear management plan that provides educational materials for residents 

regarding deterrent methods to reduce human-bear conflicts, provide for a trash 

receptacle and dumpster program to manage potential bear and other wildlife 

intrusion and develop rules or ordinances that require business and residents to 

secure wildlife attractants to prevent potential conflicts with bears. 

l. Provide for future residents education regarding the purpose and methods of the 

management plan. 

m. Provide for installation of kestrel nesting boxes at an appropriate density consistent 

with the known kestrel population on-site, if any. 

n. Provide for the control of feral and free roaming cats to prevent the depredation of 

Sherman’s fox squirrels and other listed species and indigenous wildlife as 

recommended by the FWC. 

o. Establish wildlife crossings on interior roads to maintain habitat connectivity where 

appropriate. 

p. Establish conservation easements and adequate funding to secure and manage 

preserved areas in perpetuity as needed to implement the management plan.  

Conservation easements will be conveyed to the SJRWMD, the City, Orange 

County, the Nature Conservancy, or Florida Audubon, or any other conservation 

organization whose purpose is the management and preservation of lands.  

99



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 14 

q. Conduct biennial wildlife surveys to measure the preserve’s success and provide 

for biennial reporting of the implementation and effectiveness of the management 

plan at the time of the biennial report. 

r. Develop a mechanism to make modifications to the management plan that are 

approved via permitting with such modifications being reported within the 

appropriate biennial report. 

7. Recreation/Parks 

The Applicant and the City shall enter into a binding developer’s agreement to address the 

provision of parks and recreational facilities for the Kelly Park Crossing DRI prior to 

approval of the first Incremental Rezoning.  

8. Water Supply and Water Conservation 

A. The City’s consumptive use permit which expires on September 13, 2031, is anticipated 

to meet the needs of the City’s projected population including the development 

generated by the DRI.  However, each phase of the DRI, beyond phase 1 as identified 

in the Condition 2, Project Description, of this Development Order, shall proceed only 

upon confirmation of adequate water supply sources to support the development of said 

phase through the City’s consumptive use permit or other sources that are approved by 

the SJRWMD.  

 

B. Reasonably available lower-quality sources of water, including storm water, surface 

water, and reclaimed water, must be distributed for use or used throughout the DRI in 

place of higher quality water sources according to the SJRWMD rules and applicable 

100



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 15 

state law.  Storm water, surface water and reclaimed water shall be maximized as 

nonpotable water sources for irrigation. 

 

C. Any wells no longer in use within the DRI boundary shall be properly plugged and 

abandoned in accordance with SJRWMD rules and regulations.  Any change in the use 

of the wells is subject to SJRWMD’s approval of an appropriate CUP consistent with 

adopted SJRWMD rules. 

 

D. Each multifamily residential unit subject to an individual deed for property ownership 

and nonresidential multi-unit structures shall use submeters for potable water.  

Multifamily residential units not subject to individual deeds shall use master meters.  

 

E. . Development within the Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall comply with applicable 

provisions of the City’s Landscape and Irrigation Ordinance No. 2069. 

 

F. The covenants, codes and deed restrictions shall require that only U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency Water Sense-labeled water-conserving fixtures or equivalent 

performing fixtures shall be installed in all residential and nonresidential buildings and 

structures. 

 

G. The covenants, codes and deed restrictions shall require that only U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency Energy Star-labeled water-conserving fixtures or equivalent 

performing fixtures shall be installed in all residential and nonresidential buildings and 

structures. 

101



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 16 

 

H. The Applicant shall implement the water conservation practices described in the ADA 

and subsequent sufficiency responses to maximize water conservation and enhance 

water quality. 

 

I. The Applicant shall obtain water from the City subject to the City’s rate resolutions 

and ordinances. The Applicant shall enter into an agreement with the City addressing 

the timing and funding of potable water and nonpotable water infrastructure projects 

that are needed to support the DRI. 

 

J. A distribution system for nonpotable water (i.e., storm water, surface water and 

reclaimed water) shall be installed concurrently with both residential and nonresidential 

development within the DRI.  The Applicant and the City shall enter into an agreement 

addressing the timing and funding of the nonpotable water system.  The nonpotable 

distribution system shall be developed parallel to and concurrently with the potable 

water distribution system for utilization.  All irrigation systems installed in the 

development shall be designed to accept nonpotable water. 

 

9. Wastewater Management. 

A. Development of the DRI shall proceed concurrent with the provision of adequate 

central sewer service meeting the adopted level of service standards in the City 

Comprehensive Plan.  The Applicant shall enter into an agreement with the City 

addressing responsibility for the design, construction and funding of central sewer lines 

to service the DRI. 

102



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 17 

10. Stormwater Management. 

A. The stormwater management system shall be designed as a stormwater reuse system, 

when feasible, to maximize the amount of surface water that will be available for 

irrigation needs throughout the development.  

B. The Applicant will employ best management practices for erosion and turbidity control.  

C. Low Impact Development (LID) techniques are recommended for the stormwater 

system to the extent allowed by the SJRWMD.  Consultation with the Program for 

Resource Efficient Communities at the University of Florida’s Institute for Food and 

Agricultural Services is recommended. 

D. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall comply with applicable provisions of the City’s 

Landscape and Irrigation Ordinance No. 2069.    

 

11. Energy & Technology.  

A. Development within the DRI shall comply with the City’s natural gas ordinance that is 

being developed.  This requirement shall not be used to prohibit development until an 

ordinance is adopted.  Any site plan or subdivision plan submitted within Kelly Park 

Crossing prior to such adoption will be vested from this ordinance. 

 

12. Solid Waste.  Development within the DRI shall occur consistent with the adopted level of 

service standards for solid waste identified in the City Comprehensive Plan.  The handling, 

storage, transportation and disposal of any hazardous materials within the DRI will comply 

with local, state, and federal rules, regulations and laws.  All users, generators and operators 

within the DRI property shall be required to adhere to all federal, state and local laws, codes, 

103



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 18 

ordinances, rules and regulations with respect to the use, management and disposal of 

hazardous waste. 

13. Fire, Police, EMS.  Police, fire and EMS service will be provided by the City.  This condition 

does not preclude the application of interlocal agreements for mutual support.  

The Applicant and the City shall enter into a binding developer’s agreement to address the 

provision of fire, police, and EMS services for Kelly Park Crossing DRI, prior to the approval 

of the first Incremental Rezoning. Fire/Police/EMS Facilities sites constitutes an Institutional 

use for purposes of the development program at Condition 2.   

14. Affordable Housing.  The Affordable Housing Analysis prepared for the Kelly Park 

Crossing DRI ADA using the approved ECFRPC methodology concluded that affordable 

housing will be available at the conclusion of Phase 1.  Additional studies shall be conducted 

for all future phases prior to their commencement.  If the ECFRPC methodology is applied, 

compliance with the ECFRPC methodology shall also mean meeting the requirements to 

appropriately mitigate impacts for each phase as identified in said methodology.  The Kelly 

Park Crossing DRI can mitigate for very low and/or low affordable housing deficiencies with 

accessory dwelling units only if found by the City to be consistent with existing zoning 

requirements and supporting land development regulations. 

15. Education.  The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall enter an agreement with the Orange County 

School Board to address school capacity needs created by the DRI. 

16. Transportation. 

a. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall be divided into the following vehicular traffic phases 

based on reaching any of the following thresholds or years, as indicated below.   

 

104



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 19 

Phase 

&Year 

Daily 

Trips 

Daily Trips 

Cumulative 

External* 

Daily 

Trips 

External* 

Daily Trips 

Cumulative 

Peak 

Hour 

Trips 

Peak Hour 

Trips 

Cumulative 

External* 

Peak Hour 

Trips 

External* 

Peak Hour  

Trips  

Cumulative 

Phase 1 

2023 
17,907** 17,907 16,121 16,121 1,497 1,497 1,332 1,332 

Phase 2 

2028 
58,868 76,775 46,078 62,199 5,979 7,476 5,089 6,421 

Phase 3 

2033 

40,708 117,483 32,375 94,574 4,215 11,691 3,507 9,928 

Phase 4 

2038 
21,041 138,521 47,388 141,962 2,533 14,224 2,153 12,081 

External trips reflect anticipated internalization reductions but not passer-by reductions 

 

**  The Kelly Park Crossing phase 1 is constrained by the City’s comprehensive plan which limits the DRI to 

7000 daily trips.  However, the applicant’s traffic study confirms that 17,907 trips can be accommodated on the 

roadway network.  Therefore, the DRI is limited to 7,000 trips until such time as the City’s comprehensive plan 

can be amended.  If the amendment is approved, Phase 1 shall be 17,907 daily trips without the need to further 

amend this development order.   Mitigation for phase 1 development must be secured by a development agreement 

prior to commencement of phase 1 development. Subsequent to phase 1 but prior to the initiation of 

each phase thereafter as identified in the preceding paragraph, the Applicant shall conduct a 

monitoring/modeling (M&M) program.  This program shall ascertain the Level of Service 

(“LOS”) on facilities where the pending phase  of (starting with phase 2) Kelly Park Crossing 

DRI is estimated to contribute an amount of traffic greater than or equal to five percent (5%) 

of the adopted LOS service volume.  The methodology of the M&M program shall be agreed 

upon by the City, the ECFRPC, Orange County, Lake County, the Florida Department of 

Transportation (“FDOT”), and the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity and the 

Applicant.  The depth of each M&M effort shall be similar to that required within an ADA (to 

include all subsequent phases for projected roadway adversity testing) but shall be consistent 

105



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 20 

with the requirements of the City Concurrency Management Systems (if in effect) as it relates 

to facilities within that jurisdiction.  Empirical data will be required to be collected for the 

M&M program on facilities where it is estimated that the DRI contributes an amount of traffic 

greater than or equal to five percent (5%) of the adopted LOS maximum service volume.  This 

shall may include an origin-destination survey to verify DRI trip distribution on the external 

roadway network no earlier than seventy-five percent (75%) through any applicable Phase.  

The origin-destination survey shall also verify the percentage of DRI trips that travel on the 

Wekiva Parkway.  Concurrent with the timing of the origin-destination study, A trip generation 

and internal capture study shall be performed to verify trip generation and internal capture 

assumptions for the development.  A trip length study shall also be conducted to verify model 

results.  In the event that all parties cannot come to agreement on the methodology, the 

ECFRPC, FDOT, the City, Orange County and Lake County shall be the final arbiters.  The 

City’s decision shall be final as it relates to its facilities; if required by law, the FDOT’s 

decision shall be final on the strategic intermodal system; Orange County’s decision shall be 

final on Orange County facilities; Lake County’s decision shall be final on Lake County 

facilities; and the ECFRPC’s decisions shall be final as it relates to all other facilities. Each 

M&M program shall provide a roadway needs analysis for each future phase as well as the 

phase being tested for mitigation requirements. 

The facilities to be monitored/modeled for the next phase shall include, but shall not be limited 

to, those segments of the regional roadways listed below and one segment beyond where the 

Kelly Park Crossing DRI phase is estimated to contribute a cumulative amount of traffic 

greater than or equal to five percent (5%) of the adopted LOS service volume.  The analyzed 

106



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 21 

facilities will include signalized intersections and link analyses of collector and higher 

classified roadways and interchange ramps. 

The City, the ECFRPC, Orange County, Lake County, FDOT, and DEO shall have the right to 

make reasonable requests for additional information from the Applicant to verify adherence to 

these provisions.  The Applicant shall supply adequate information toward compliance with 

these requirements. 

Candidate Roadways for Monitoring and Modeling 

Roadway Facility From To 

US 441 CR 473 Bradshaw Road 

SR 46 US 441 CR 437 north 

SR 429 (Expressway) Florida’s Turnpike Apopka Bypass  

(John Land Expressway) 

Wekiva Parkway SR 429 Interstate 4 

CR 435 (Rock Springs Road) Kelly Park Road Sandpiper Road 

CR 435 (Park Avenue) Sandpiper Road Cleveland Street 

CR 435 (Clarcona Road Cleveland Street Clarcona-Ocoee Road 

CR 437 CR 44A Orange-Lake County Line 

Plymouth –Sorrento Road Orange-Lake County Line US 441 

Welch Road Vick Road Wekiva Springs Road 

Binion Road/Orange Avenue Apopka Ocoee Road US 441 

Errol Parkway Lake Francis Drive Lake Arden Drive 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 

Haas Road Plymouth Sorrento Road Mt. Plymouth Road 

Jason Dwelley Parkway Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 

Kelly Park Road Round Lake Road Rock Springs Road 

Lake Francis Drive Schopke Lester Road Vick Road 

Lester Road Schopke Road Plymouth Sorrento Road 

Mt. Plymouth Road Kelly Park Road Lake County Line 

CR 435 Orange County Line SR 46 

Ondich Road Round Lake Road Plymouth Sorrento Road 

Ponkan Road Orange Blossom Trail Rock Springs Road 

Round Lake Road Ponkan Road Wolf Branch Road 

Sadler Avenue Lake County Line Orange Blossom Trail 

107



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 22 

Sadler Avenur/Sadler Road Orange Blossom Trail Round Lake Road 

Vick Road Old Dixie Highway Ponkan Road 

Wolf Branch Road US 441 CR 437 

Yothers Road US 441 Plymouth Sorrento Road 

 

 

b. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall not commence beyond Phase 1 (an equivalent of 

1,332 external peak hour trip ends) (as defined herein) into Phase 2 or into subsequent 

phases  when service levels are below the minimum service level adopted in the 

applicable local government’s comprehensive plan during the peak hour and if the DRI 

contributes, or is projected to contribute with the next phase of traffic, five percent (5%) 

of the adopted LOS service volume of the roadway or intersection unless mitigation 

measures and/or improvements are secured and committed for completion of 

construction during the phase in which the impacts occur.  Backlogged facilities shall 

be exempt from mitigation requirements.  This shall be determined by the M&M 

program required in the preceding condition. The schedule of required roadway 

improvements shall be tied to the development level when the improvement is needed 

within each phase.  The Development Order shall be amended to incorporate the 

required improvements and the commensurate trip level by which the improvement is 

needed to support DRI development.   

 

c. Adequate “secured and committed” mitigation measures shall include one of the 

following: 

i. A roadway improvement scheduled for construction within the first three (3) 

years of the appropriate local government’s adopted comprehensive plan capital 

108



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 23 

improvement element (or as otherwise provided in the applicable jurisdiction’s 

capital improvement element) or; a roadway improvement scheduled for 

construction within the first three (3) years of the FDOT’s five-year Work 

Program. 

ii. A binding, financially secured and irrevocable commitment by the Applicant or 

other appropriate persons or entities for the design, engineering, land acquisition 

and actual construction of the necessary improvements coupled with the posting 

of a cash bond, surety bond, irrevocable letter of credit, escrow account or other 

security in a form acceptable to the agency of jurisdiction within the next three 

(3) years and incorporated by reference into the development order. 

iii. Any other mitigation option specifically provided for in this development order. 

iv. Any other mitigation option permitted by law, including but not limited to a local 

government development agreement consistent with Chapter 163, Florida 

Statutes, which ameliorates the projected impact and is incorporated into the DRI 

Development Order by amendment. 

v. A proportionate share agreement provided by the Applicant with the City and the 

jurisdiction or agency whose roadway is impacted, pursuant to Rule 9J-2.045, 

F.A.C., and Chapter 380.06(15)(e), or Section 163.3180(5)(h)3.,Florida Statutes, 

if applicable at time of agreement.   

d. The above mitigation measures shall occur by the required threshold in order for the 

DRI to proceed through the balance of the applicable phase.  If the Applicant can 

demonstrate that a portion of a phase does not adversely affect the Regional Roadway 

109



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 24 

network as determined by the M&M tests discussed above, then the Applicant may 

proceed with that portion of the phase (and only that portion). 

e. In the event that a roadway widening is identified which is not compatible with adopted 

policy of the FDOT or local government (e.g., constrained), the Applicant, the City, or 

the party having either maintenance or jurisdictional responsibility for the facility, shall 

determine alternate mitigation solutions to provide for the movement of people. 

 

G. Toward the achievement of the objectives in the two preceding conditions, an agreement(s) 

among the City, Orange County, Lake County, the FDOT, the OOCEA and the Applicant 

may be created to address and clarify such issues related to equity in the application of 

collected fees for transportation improvements.  In such an event, application of fees shall 

be applied in a manner consistent with the appropriate rules adopted by the State of Florida 

or by existing interlocal agreements.  However, such an agreement would not alter or waive 

the provisions and requirements of the other conditions of the Development Order as a 

mitigative measure for the transportation impacts for the Kelly Park Crossing DRI.  In the 

event that one of the designated parties to the agreement (other than the Applicant) fails to 

execute said interlocal agreement(s) within the specified time, then the Applicant may 

proceed with the DRI based upon the modeling M&M schedule and all other 

recommendations specified herein as it affects the non-participating party.  Separate 

agreements may be entered into with one or more parties and the Applicant. 

H. The following table lists the Phase 1 improvement needs required to mitigate the DRI’s 

intersection impacts during Phase 1.  The City and the Applicant shall enter into a 

proportionate share agreement which addresses the improvement costs, timing of 

110



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 25 

mitigation payments, the option of pipelining proportionate share mitigation fees, and 

adequate provisions for transportation impact fee credits against proportionate share and 

mitigation fees. 

Phase 1 Intersection Improvement Needs 

Roadway/Intersection  Proposed Improvement  

SR 46 at CR 437 South  Provide a NB right-turn lane  

US 441 at Sadler Avenue  Provide EB and WB left-turn lanes  

US 441 at Plymouth-Sorrento Road  Re-stripe to provide an EB and WB 

auxiliary through lane along US 441. 

Restripe SB approach to provide an 

exclusive SB right-turn and shared SB lane 

for left and right-turns.  

Kelly Park Road at Round Lake Road  Add WB right-turn lane.  

Kelly Park Road at Plymouth-Sorrento 

Road  

Add EB left-turn lane and re-time signal  

Ponkan Road at Plymouth-Sorrento 

Road  

Add NB left-turn lane and re-time signal  

 

I. The following list of improvements has been identified as the result of significant and 

adverse impacts from the Kelly Park Crossing DRI.  It is anticipated that these will be 

refined by the M&M process prior to each phase.  Since widening of roadways may not be 

compatible with state and local plans, transit operations or alternate parallel facility 

improvements should also be considered.  A timeframe and responsible party for the 

implementation of the following improvements, as amended by the M&M program, shall 

be identified at the beginning of each phase.   

 

 

 

111



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 26 

Phase 2 (2020) 

Roadway From To Improvement Need 

US 441 Yothers Road Hermit Smith Road 6 Lane Divided 

Plymouth Sorrento 

Road 

Park Avenue 6 Lane Divided 

SR 46 Vista View Round Lake Road 4 Lane Divided 

CR 437 South CR 437 North 4 Lane Divided 

Welch Road Vick Road Rock Springs Road 4 Lane Divided 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Golden Gem Road Plymouth Sorrento 

Road 

4 Lane Divided 

Round Lake Road Orange County Line Wolf Branch Road 4 Lane Divided 

Phase 3 (2025) 

US 441 SR 19/Duncan Drive US 19/Bay Street 8 Lane Divided 

Equivalent 

Donnelly Street Wolf Branch Road 6 Lane Divided 

Yothers Road Bradshaw Road 6 Lane Divided 

SR 46 US 441 Round Lake Road 4 Land Divided 

CR 437 South CR 437 North 4 Lane Divided 

SR 429 (Expressway) Florida’s Turnpike Plant Street 6 Lane Expressway 

CR 435/Park Avenue Orange Street US 441 6 Lane Divided 

CR 435/Clarcona 

Road 

Keene Road Clarcona-Ocoee Road 4 Lane Divided 

Welch Road Vick Road Rock Springs Road 4 Lane Divided 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Golden Gem Road Jason Dwelley Parkway 4 Lane Divided 

Round Lake Road Orange County Line Wolf Branch Road 4 Lane Divided 

Sadler Road Lake County Line Round Tree Road 4 Lane Divided 

Vick Road Welch Road Lake Francis Drive 4 Lane Divided 

Wolf Branch Road US 441 Britt Road 4 Lane Divided 

Phase 4 (2030)    

US 441 CR 473 Old US 441 8 Lane Divided 

Equivalent 

SR 19/Duncan Drive Donnelly Street 8 Lane Divided 

Equivalent 

112



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 27 

Donnelly Street Sadler Road 6 Lane Divided 

Yothers Road Bradshaw Road 6 Lane Divided 

SR 46 US 441 Round Lake Road 4 Lane Divided 

CR 437 South CR 437 North 4 Lane Divided 

SR 429 (Expressway) Florida’s Turnpike Apopka Bypass 6 Lane Expressway 

CR 435/Rock Springs 

Road 

Kelly Park Road Rock Ridge Boulevard 6 Lane Divided 

Welch Road Sandpiper Road 6 Lane Divided 

CR 435/Park Avenue US 441 M Gladded Boulevard 4 Lane Divided 

CR 435/Clarcona 

Road 

Cleveland Street Clarcona-Ocoee Road 4 Lane Divided 

CR 437 SR 44 Orange County Line 4 Lane Divided 

Welch Road Vick Road Ustler Road 4 Lane Divided 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Round Lake Road Jason Dwelley Parkway 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Mt. Plymouth-

Sorrento Road 

Rock Springs Road. 4 Lane Divided 

CR 435 Orange County Line Dubstread Drive 4 Lane Divided 

Round Lake Road Kelly Park Road Wolf Branch Road 4 Lane Divided 

Sadler Road Lake County Line Round Tree Road 4 Lane Divided 

Vick Road Welch Road Lester Road 4 Lane Divided 

Wolf Branch Road US 441 Britt Road 4 Lane 

Divided 

 

J. If the modeling M&M results as set forth above show that improvements must be made to 

roadway facilities, and if mitigation is not provided as set forth in these conditions or as 

otherwise required pursuant to Rule 9J-2.045(7), then prior to any construction of future 

phases and subject to the provisions of Chapter 380.06(15)(e), Florida Statutes, the 

Applicant, the City and the entity with jurisdiction over the roadway facility may enter into 

an agreement which ensures that: 

i. proportionate share payment is made by the Applicant to the appropriate entity(ies) 

to mitigate DRI impacts; and 

113



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 28 

ii. said proportionate share payment shall be used by the appropriate entity only for the 

design, engineering, right-of-way purchase, permitting and/or construction of 

improvement to the segments/intersections for which the payment is made; and  

iii. said proportionate share payment by the Applicant constitutes adequate provision for 

the public facilities needed with respect to the road segments to accommodate the 

impacts of the DRI through the phase for which the proportionate share was 

calculated, as required by Chapter 380.15(e)(2), Florida Statutes.  All such 

proportionate share agreements shall be included in this Development Order by 

amendment pursuant to Chapter 380.06(19), Florida Statutes.  The formula to be used 

to determine proportionate share contribution is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

iv. For this formula, DRI Trips is the cumulative number of trips from the development 

expected to reach the roadway during the peak hour from the phase under 

development.  Service Volume (“SV”) increase is the change in peak hour maximum 

service volume of the roadway resulting from construction of the improvement 

necessary to maintain the desired level of service; and Cost of Improvement is the 

cost (at the time of Applicant’s payment) of constructing an improvement necessary 

to maintain the desired level of service, including all improvement associated costs 

(engineering design, right-of-way acquisition, planning, engineering, inspection and 

other associated physical development costs directly required and associated with the 

construction of the improvement) as determined by the governmental agency having 

maintenance obligations over the roadway.  Transit service and facilities shall be 

(DRI Trips)   x  Cost = Proportionate Share 

SV Increase 

114



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 29 

considered in the proportionate share calculations. 

v. Pursuant to COMMUNITY PLANNING ACT OF 2011 (2011-139 F.S.), the 

proportionate share provisions above shall be reexamined to address the provisions 

contained therein, and, in the event of a conflict, the Statute shall prevail.  Nothing in 

this development order shall require the Applicant to fund improvements when such 

funding is inconsistent with the provisions of Florida Statute or Florida 

Administrative Code.   Should an agency disagree with an exemption allowed by the 

City under this paragraph, the final arbiter on interpreting the Act shall be the DEO.  

 

K. Notwithstanding any provision contained herein to the contrary, except as specifically 

agreed to in writing, the City and the entity with jurisdiction over the roadway facility shall 

have no financial responsibility to contribute to or participate in the funding of the design, 

engineering, permitting and/or construction of roadway improvements unless otherwise 

required to do so by State law.  

L. The M&M required prior to each phase or subphase shall be used to verify impacts from 

previous phases and to more accurately estimate probable impacts from later phases.  The 

M&M program undertaken prior to Phase 2 shall also assess full buildout.  If necessary, 

the proportionate share amount will be adjusted to reflect actual impacts from a phase and 

the more accurate information, which will result from the estimates for later phases.  If it 

is verified that the roadway improvements mentioned above are still needed, then the DRI 

shall not proceed into later phases until either the proportionate share payment is made or 

the needed improvements are scheduled for construction in the applicable entities’ work 

program within the first three (3) years from the date when impacts are estimated to be 

significant and adverse.   Pursuant to the COMMUNITY PLANNING ACT OF 2011, the 

115



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 30 

requirements above shall be reexamined to address the provisions contained therein.  In the 

event that the Act (COMMUNITY PLANNING ACT OF 2011) addresses the mitigation 

of transportation impacts in a different manner than those options provided herein, the 

Applicant may elect to utilize the options afforded by the Act.  

M. Student enrollment for the community college shall initially be limited to 1,866 students. 

However, if the demand for additional enrollment is established in the future, the 

conversion matrix may be applied to convert from another use such that the peak-hour 

peak-direction trips for the current phase of the Kelly Park DRI are not increased.  

N. The Kelly Park DRI shall not proceed with any portion of the development program that 

would result in DRI trips above the threshold identified for Phase 1 until the Wekiva 

Parkway toll facility is constructed and operational. In the event that construction of the 

Wekiva Parkway is terminated or delayed indefinitely, additional local and state review 

and approvals will be required for any portion of the DRI beyond Phase 1 to reevaluate 

impacts and the viability of future development phases.  

O. If the parties cannot reach agreement independently prior to the date when impacts are 

estimated to be significant and adverse, or if so desired by the parties at any time, then the 

issues in dispute shall be submitted to the ECFRPC for either voluntary mediation pursuant 

to its adopted dispute resolution process or to binding arbitration pursuant to the rules and 

procedures of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) unless otherwise agreed by 

the parties in dispute.  The solutions recommended as a result of this process shall be 

implemented and the Development Order amended pursuant to Chapter 380.06(19), 

Florida Statutes, to include these solutions.   

116



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 31 

P. In order to provide safe access and to preserve operational capacity, the need for 

deceleration lanes shall be determined by the appropriate permitting agencies and if 

required, installed by the Applicant.  The Applicant and the appropriate permitting agencies 

shall confirm the need for and the cost of signalization at the DRI entrances consistent with 

policies of the City and the appropriate permitting agencies.  Signal costs and geometric 

improvements at DRI entrances are the financial responsibility of the Applicant through 

DRI buildout unless other traffic warrants such signalization or improvements in advance 

of DRI demand or other nearby development contributes traffic to the subject intersection, 

in which case, the Applicant may pay an appropriate fair share for signalization costs as 

determined by the City. 

Q. The development plan will include multiple roadways through the Kelly Park Crossing 

DRI in order to provide adequate capacity, to provide alternative routes and to lessen the 

impacts to community cohesiveness.   

R. To reduce the impacts on arterial roads, the Kelly Park Crossings DRI will include a 

gridded and connected street network and shall restrict cul du sacs and dead end streets 

except as may be provided in Condition 4, Option B, of this development order.  The DRI 

will connect to existing and future street networks on and off site when practical as 

determined by the City in conjunction with Orange County.  The applicant will not be 

required to purchase additional property(ies) to implement this condition.  Nothing in this 

recommendation is intended to preclude the Applicant from developing a use where a 

campus is desired without a grid network, or in the event that a grid network would create 

otherwise unnecessary environmental impacts to wetlands or upland preserve areas. 

117



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 32 

S. The Applicant shall cooperate with LYNX to identify the need and confirm the steps 

necessary to implement the following: 

i. By Phase 3, identify a potential location for a 200 space park and ride lot proximate 

to the Wekiva Parkway and Kelly Park Road interchange, which may be shared with 

commercial uses. 

ii. Coordinate with LYNX and Kelly Park Crossing DRI businesses to promote 

workplace flextime strategies. 

iii. Reserve sites with adequate size and accessibility for future transit routes, stops and 

amenities (passenger shelters, transit parking bays and parking spaces for vanpool 

vehicles) in the development area.  During the design, the Applicant shall consult the 

Lynx Central Florida Mobility Design Manual available at www.golynx.com under 

publications. 

iv. Preferential parking for employees who participate in ridesharing programs. 

v. Financial assistance to provide a route to the site once LYNX and the City determine 

that ridership levels justify such a connection to the system.  Said financial 

contribution shall be based on a proportionate share of ridership to or from the Kelly 

Park Crossing DRI, to the extent allowed by law. 

vi. Coordinate with FDOT’s ReThink program (www.rethinkyourcommute.com) in 

order to increase the modal split of the DRI.   

vii. Should the Orange Blossom Express (along the US 441 corridor through Apopka) 

become operational for rail transit, the Applicant shall assess actions to facilitate 

ridership on the system, including but not limited to shuttle operations to and from 

the nearest station during peak traffic  hours. 

118



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 33 

 

T. In the interest of safety, and to promote alternative forms of transportation, the Applicant 

shall provide the following bicycle and pedestrian systems:  

i. The on-site bicycle systems shall be connected into any external bicycle systems 

abutting the Kelly Park Crossing DRI and existing at the time of construction within 

the DRI, and shall anticipate the connection to the Wekiva Trail.   

ii. Bicycle and pedestrian facilities shall adhere to minimum state standards as contained 

in the Florida Bicycle Facilities Planning and Design Handbook. 

iii. Provided that there is no conflict with the City’s adopted Form Based Code, covered 

walkways shall be designed into the front of non-residential structures to the 

maximum extent practicable, but such provision shall not be construed so as to create 

a mandatory design element, but to create a heightened sensitivity to ensuring cover 

from the elements for pedestrians. 

iv. In all areas of the Kelly Park Crossing DRI where cycling will be accomplished on 

both sidewalk/bikeways and streets, appropriate signage identifying bike routes shall 

be installed. 

v. Special consideration shall be given to bikeways connecting neighboring residential 

areas to employment and commercial areas and schools.   

vi. Bicycle support facilities, such as parking racks and/or lockers, shall be provided at 

commercial areas and work areas.   

vii. DRI roadways and improvements to area roadways approaching the site are 

recommended to incorporate bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

119



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 34 

17. Historical and Archaeological Sites. The Applicant, or any other subsequent developers 

developing within the DRI, shall notify, or ensure the notification of construction personnel, 

through posted advisories or other methods, of the potential for artifact discoveries on the Kelly 

Park Crossing DRI site and to report suspected findings to the DRI manager.  In the event of 

discovery of artifacts of historic or archaeological significance during construction, the 

Applicant and/or subsequent developers shall immediately halt any construction activity within 

one hundred fifty (150) feet of the location of any discovery that has the potential to adversely 

affect the archeological find; and will, within three (3) business days of the discovery of 

artifacts notify the City and the Division of Historical Resources (“DHR”) of the Florida 

Department of State.  Thereafter, the Applicant will coordinate the evaluation of the artifacts 

with review agencies and provide any professional assistance necessary to document, relocate, 

preserve or conserve the site and/or physical artifacts; provide proper protection of the 

discovery in accordance with applicable law; and provide a written report to the agencies listed 

above documenting the results of the site evaluation and mitigation/preservation actions 

proposed or completed. The process and actions described above shall not extend beyond one 

hundred twenty (120) days to allow evaluation of the site, and, thereafter, the Applicant may 

continue with development. 

18.  Green Development Standards. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall meet the standards of 

any of the following: the US Green Building Council’s (USGBC) Leadership in Energy and 

Environmental Design (LEED) rating system, the Florida Green Building Coalition (FGBC), 

the Green Building Initiative’s Green Globes program or any other nationally recognized, 

green building system that is approved by the Department of Management Services (DMS).The 

Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall at a minimum, meet Energy Star standards for all development. 

120



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 35 

19. Outdoor Lighting. Appropriate “dark skies” measures shall be implemented in all new 

construction except in areas proximate to the interchange area, provided that acceptable public 

safety and security are maintained.  Actions to direct lights downward and away from existing 

rural areas may be based upon the Model Lighting Ordinance Users Guide from the 

Illuminating Engineering Society.  These provisions may be accessed at 

http://docs.darksky.org/MLO/MLO_FINAL_June2011.pdf. 

20. Monitoring Official and Procedures. The City Administrator, or his or her designee, shall be 

responsible for monitoring the development and enforcing the provisions of this Development 

Order.  The City shall not issue any permits or approvals or provide any extensions of services 

if the Applicant fails to comply with this Development Order. This Development Order will 

be enforced by the City of Apopka through implementation of its adopted Comprehensive Plan, 

Land Development Code, Code Enforcement by the designated Zoning Official of the City, 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 380.11, Florida Statutes, or as otherwise provided by law. 

21.  Phasing and Buildout. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI is to be developed as a four-phase 

project as described in the table below.  The projected buildout date for all DRI development 

is December 31, 2038.  The Applicant shall commence physical development of five percent 

(5%) of Phase 1 of the DRI (e.g. one hundred seventy-two (172) [residential units, commercial 

square footage, etc.] or equivalent number of PM peak-hour external trips) within five (5) 

twelve (12) years after the effective date of this Development Order, otherwise this 

Development Order shall expire.  Should the Applicant donate property to the City for an 

institutional use (e.g. fire station, police station, City Hall Annex, etc.) the maximum FAR 

allowed under the adopted comprehensive plan shall be assigned to the parcel and the square 

footages resulting from this analysis shall be applied to the 5% of phase 1 referenced herein. 

121



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 36 

Alternatively, should the applicant commence construction on the spine road from Kelly Park 

Crossing to Ondich Road within three ten years of the effective date of this development order 

then the five percent threshold shall have been met. The Applicant and the City estimate that 

approximately twenty (20) years will be required to complete the development described 

herein once development has commenced.   

Since adoption of the Form Based Code (FBC) is required and since the applicant is prohibited 

from proceeding with project development until such time of its adoption, the City and the 

applicant agree that the dates contained herein may be adjusted to reflect the FBC adoption 

date.  Commencement shall be the date of adoption of the FBC.  Expiration is estimated to be 

20 years from commencement, with four five year phases in between.  No further amendments 

to this development order will be necessary to adjust the commencement, phase, down zoning, 

or expiration dates made in order to adjust to the Form Based Code’s adoption. 

 

Development within a given phase of Kelly Park crossing may occur anywhere within the 

project so long as the conditions of this development order are met and said development has 

obtained  all other necessary approvals and permits. 

22. Biennial Reporting Requirement. In accordance with Chapter 380.06(18), Florida 

Statutes, the Applicant, its successors or assigns, shall submit a biennial report on or before the 

two year anniversary date of this Development Order and in every other or second year 

thereafter during the buildout of the DRI (the "Biennial Report").  The Biennial Report shall 

be submitted to the City, the ECFRPC, the DCA (or successor agency, as applicable), the 

SJRWMD and all affected agencies formally requesting copies of the same in writing to the 

Applicant.  The contents of the Biennial Report shall comply with the relevant conditions of 

122



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 37 

approval of this Development Order, Chapter 380.06(18), Florida Statutes, Rule 9J-2.025(7), 

F.A.C, and any and all other and further information required under applicable law.  The 

Biennial Report shall include a statement that all persons/agencies listed above or otherwise 

entitled to receive the Biennial Report have been sent copies and the failure to timely submit 

the Biennial Report may subject the Applicant and the Kelly Park Crossing DRI to the 

temporary suspension of this Development Order in accordance with Chapter 380.06(18), 

Florida Statutes. In each biennial report the Applicant shall provide information and 

documentation as to how and in what manner the DRI is striving to meet and/or is meeting the 

foregoing energy goals.  

23. Downzoning Protection. In accordance with Section 380.06(15), Florida Statutes, the DRI, as 

approved in this Development Order, shall not be subject to downzoning, unit density 

reduction, or intensity reduction before December 31, 2038, as such date may be extended, 

unless the Applicant consents to such change, or the City demonstrates that substantial changes 

in the conditions underlying the approval of the Development Order have occurred or unless 

the City demonstrates that the Development Order was based on substantially inaccurate 

information provided by the Applicant or unless the change is clearly established by the City 

to be essential to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

 

 

 

  

123



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 38 

Glossary of Acronyms Used 

AAA American Arbitration Association 

ACOE/USACOE Army Corps of Engineers 

ADA  Application for Development Approval 

AM&M Annual Monitoring & Modeling 

BRT Bus Rapid Transit 

CCR Codes, Covenants and Restrictions 

CDD Community Development District 

CSDA Critical Smoke Dispersal Area 

 DEO  Department of Economic Opportunity 

DHR Division of Historical Resources 

DO Development Order 

DRI Development of Regional Impact 

ECFRPC East Central Florida Regional Planning Council 

ERP Environmental Review Permit 

FAC Florida Administrative Code 

FDEP Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

FDOT Florida Department of Transportation 

FFWCC/FWC Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission 

FGBC Florida Green Building Coalition  

FIHS Florida Intrastate Highway System 

FLEPPC Florida Exotic Pest Plant Council 

USFWC/FWC US Fish and Wildlife Service 

HMP Habitat Management Plan 

LEED Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 

LOS Level of Service 

MDA Master Development Association 

124



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 39 

M&M Monitoring & Modeling 

MMTD Multimodal Transit District 

MPO Metropolitan Planning Organization 

NOPC Notification of a Proposed Change 

OHW Ordinary High Water 

SFS Sherman’s fox squirrel 

SHCA Strategic Habitat Conservation Area 

SJRWMD St. Johns River Water Management District  

SOAR System Operation Assessment Report 

SV Service Volume 

TMDL Total Maximum Daily Load 

TOD Transit Oriented Development 

USFWS/FWS US Fish and Wildlife Service 

USGBC US Green Building Council 

 

 

  

125



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 40 

EXHIBIT A  

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

126



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 41 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

127



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

128



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 43 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

129



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 44 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

130



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 45 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

131



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

132



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 47 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

133



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 48 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

134



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 49 

EXHIBIT B 

MAP H 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI - Corrected First Amendment (Edit EXHIBIT B) 

 50 

EXHIBIT C  

LAND USE EQUIVALENCY MATRIX 

 

 

LAND USE MIX TABLE 

LAND USE MINIMUM CURRENT MAXIMUM 

Office 1,632,847 1,920,996 2,209,145 

Light Industrial 4,443,120 5,227,200 6,011,280 

Retail/Commercial 1,312,140 1,372,140 1,432,140 

Residential 1,395 1550 1,550 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

\\apk-fs1\users$\jhitt\Documents\Developments\Wekiva Parkway Development\DRI Kelly Park Crossings\KPC DRI Amend 2\Exhibit B Ord 

2602 Kelly Park Crossing DO 11-1-2017.docx 

Kelly Park DRI

Land Use Equivalency Matrix

                             To

  From Units Office

Light

 Industrial

Retail/ 

Commercial

Community 

College

Medical/ 

Hospital

Residential 

(Single Family)

Residential 

(Multi-Family) Hotel Institutional

ITE 

Code

Office KSF 1 1.237 0.356 10.000 0.916 1.250 2.069 1.714 0.992 710 (E)
1 

1.20 /KSF

Light Industrial KSF 0.808 1.000 0.288 8.083 0.740 1.010 1.672 1.386 0.802 110 (R) 0.97 /KSF

Retail/Commercial KSF 2.808 3.474 1.000 28.083 2.573 3.510 5.810 4.814 2.785 820 (E)
2

3.37 /KSF

Community College Student 0.100 0.124 0.036 1.000 0.092 0.125 0.207 0.171 0.099 540 (R)
3

0.12 /Student

Medical/Hospital Bed 1.092 1.351 0.389 10.917 1.000 1.365 2.259 1.871 1.083 610 (R) 1.31 /Bed

Residential (Single Family) DU 0.800 0.990 0.285 8.000 0.733 1.000 1.655 1.371 0.793 210 (E)
4 

0.96 /DU

Residential (Multi-Family) DU 0.483 0.598 0.172 4.833 0.443 0.604 1.000 0.829 0.479 220 (E)
5 

0.58 /DU

Hotel Room 0.583 0.722 0.208 5.833 0.534 0.729 1.207 1.000 0.579 310 (R) 0.70 /Room

Institutional KSF 1.008 1.247 0.359 10.083 0.924 1.260 2.086 1.729 730 (R) 1.21 /KSF

Notes:    KSF = 1,000 square feet,  Unit = Dwelling Unit, R = Rate, E = Equation

Rates obtained from ITE Trip Generation Report, 8th Edition

Trip generation rates based on total pm peak hour trip generation

1. The equation for Office (710) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed office development (1,920,996 / 2 = 960,498), which yields a rate of 1.2 trips/KSF

2. The equation for Shopping Center (820) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed retail development (1,372,140 / 2 = 686.07), which yields a rate of 3.37 trips/KSF

3. The rate for Community College (540) is based on the "student" independent variable

4. The equation for Single Family Residential (210) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed housing development (500 / 2 = 250), which yields a rate of 0.96 trips/KSF

5. The equation for Multi-Family Residential (220) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed apartment development (1050 / 2 = 525), which yields a rate of 0.58 trips/KSF

Traffic Planning and Design, Inc. (2011)

PM Peak Hour            

Trip Rates

136



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 1 

Kelly Park Crossing 

Development of Regional Impact   
  

THIS DEVELOPMENT ORDER is ADOPTED this 1st day of 

November, 2017 and made effective as of May 17, 2017, by the 

CITY OF APOPKA, a municipal corporation organized under 

the Laws of the State of Florida, whose address is 120 East Main 

Street, Apopka, Florida, 32701-1229, hereinafter referred to as 

the “City”, upon request from PROJECT ORLANDO, LLC, a 

Florida limited liability corporation, whose address is 1900 

Summit Tower Boulevard, Suite 820, Orlando, Florida.  Project 

Orlando, LLC is hereinafter referred to as the “Applicant” 

and/or “Developer”. 

 

WHEREAS, this Corrected Amended Development Order is for the Kelly Park Crossing 

Development of Regional Impact (“DRI” or “Kelly Park Crossing DRI”) and is referred to as the 

Corrected First Amendment to the Kelly Park Crossing Development of Regional Impact 

(hereinafter, the “Development Order”); and 

WHEREAS, the Development Order concerns a mixed use project located on 

approximately 564 acres in the City, as more particularly described on Exhibit A, attached hereto 

and(hereinafter referred to as the “DRI Property”), and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant for the DRI is Project Orlando, LLC, and for purposes of this 

Development Order and for Chapter 380, Florida Statutes, Project Orlando, LLC, constitutes the 

“Developer.” The agent for the DRI is Jeff Welch; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant is desirous of developing the Kelly Park Crossing DRI as a 

mixed use development consisting of office, retail, light industrial, residential, institutional, 

hospital, community college, and hotel; and  

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an Application for Development Approval pursuant 

to Chapter 380.06, Florida Statutes on December 22, 2010, which was amended by the Response 

137



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 2 

to Requests for Additional Information, dated March, 2011, and the Second Response to Requests 

for Additional Information, dated June, 2011 (collectively, the “ADA”); and 

 WHEREAS, the ADA was reviewed and approved by the East Central Florida Regional 

Planning Council (“ECFRPC”) on August 17, 2011, and  

WHEREAS, the ADA contained a master plan, identified as Map H herein and attached 

as Exhibit B, which was reviewed simultaneously with the ADA; and  

WHEREAS, the ADA was coordinated by the City and the Applicant with the City’s 

adopted Comprehensive Plan including the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, 

WHEREAS, all public hearings as required by Chapter 380.06, Florida Statutes, were duly 

noticed and held, affording the public and all affected parties an opportunity to be heard and to 

present evidence; 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Apopka, that based 

upon the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth below and subject to the terms and 

conditions which follow, the ADA for Kelly Park Crossings, including Map H (Exhibit B), is 

hereby approved, pursuant to the provisions of Section 380.06, Florida Statutes, and other 

applicable state laws and the Comprehensive Plan, codes and ordinances of the City. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Applicant filed the ADA with the City and with the ECFRPC as well as Department 

of Community Affairs (now the Department of Economic Opportunity pursuant to Chapter 

2011 Laws of Florida, the “Community Planning Act”) and State and Federal agencies and 

citizen groups as directed by the ECFRPC. 

138



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 3 

2. The Applicant is the owner of the real property identified herein, or has the authority to 

file the ADA and is authorized to obtain a development order pursuant to Chapter 380.06, 

Florida Statutes. 

3. The DRI is not located in an area designated as an Area of Critical State Concern; 

4. The DRI is consistent with the adopted State Comprehensive Plan. 

5. The DRI including the proposed floor area ratios, is consistent with the City 

Comprehensive Plan. 

6. The DRI is consistent with the Land Development Code. 

7. The DRI is consistent with the report and recommendations of the ECFRPC submitted 

pursuant to subsection 380.06(12). 

 
 

 
  

139



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 4 

INDEX OF CONDITIONS 

 

1. Application for Development Approval……………………………………………… 5 

2. Project Description…………………………………………………………………… 5 

3. Rezoning……………………………………………………………………………… 7 

4. Form Based Code ……………………………………………………………………. 8 

5. Conversion of Uses…………………………………………………………………… 9 

6. Vegetation and Wildlife……………………………………………………………. . 10 

7. Recreation/Parks ……………………………………………………………………. 13 

8. Water Supply and Water Conservation……………………………………………… 14 

9. Wastewater Management……………………………………………………………. 15 

10. Stormwater Management……………………………………………………………  16 

11. Energy & Technology……………………………………………………………….  16 

12. Solid Waste………………………………………………………………………….  16 

13. Fire, Police, EMS……………………………………………………………………  17 

14. Affordable Housing…………………………………………………………………  17 

15. Education……………………………………………………………………………  17 

16. Transportation………………………………………………………………………  18 

17. Historical and Archaeological Sites………………………………………………...  32 

18. Green Development Standards……………………………………………………… 33 

19. Outdoor Lighting……………………………………………………………………. 33 

20. Monitoring Official and Procedures………………………………………………… 34 

21. Phasing and Buildout………………………………………………………………..  34 

22. Biennial Reporting Requirement……………………………………………………  35 

23. Downzoning Protection……………………………………………………………..  36 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT LIST 

 

Exhibit A – Property Description & Boundary Survey…………………………….  39 

Exhibit B – Master Development Plan Map ……………………………………….  48 

Exhibit C – Land Use Equivalency Matrix…………………………………………  49 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

140



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 5 

CONDITIONS 

1. Application for Development Approval. The DRI  is approved subject to the following 

conditions: 

A. The DRI Development Order shall govern the development of the DRI Property. 

B. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall be developed in accordance with the information, data, 

plans and commitments contained in the ADA which includes supplemental information 

provided in the Responses to Requests for Additional Information all of which are 

incorporated herein by reference, unless otherwise provided by these recommendations.  

The final DRI Development Order shall prevail over any conflicting information, data, 

plan, or commitments. The second response shall prevail over the first response and the 

first response shall prevail over the original application. For purposes of this condition, the 

ADA shall consist of the following items: 

a. Application for Development Approval dated December 23, 2010 

b. Responses to Requests for Additional Information #1 dated March 29, 2011 

c. Responses to Requests for Additional Information #2 dated June 10, 2011 

 

2. Project Description. 

The DRI is designed to be a mixed-use, high density/intensity development centered around 

the Kelly Park Road interchange of the proposed Wekiva Parkway.  As envisioned in the 

Wekiva Parkway Protection Act (§369.314, Florida Statutes et. seq.) and the City ’s Wekiva 

Parkway Interchange Vision Plan within the City Comprehensive Plan, the DRI Master 

Development Plan, attached as Exhibit B, calls for intense development proximate to the 

interchange with densities and intensities decreasing further from the interchange. Mixed use 

141



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 6 

buildings are allowed throughout the DRI except in those areas designated “Neighborhood” as 

depicted on Map H (Exhibit B). (Legal Description Exhibit A), 

 

The development program presented by the Applicant and herein approved includes: 

Land Use Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4 Total 
Development 

FAR Approximate 
Acres* 

Office 100,000 
SF 

540,000 SF 641,000 SF 639,996 SF 1,920,996 SF 0.4 84.25 

Light Industrial 200,000 
SF 

3,330,000 
SF 

1,000,000 
SF 

727,200 SF 5,227,200 SF 0.6 178.00 

Retail/Commercial 100,000 
SF 

450,000 SF 550,000 SF 272,140 SF 1,372,140 SF 0.3 77.00 

Community 
College 

 

130,680 
SF 

 

-- 

   

130,680 SF 

0.3  

20.00 

Medical -- 250,000 SF 272,720 SF  522,720 SF 0.4 30.00 

Residential 300 DU 400 DU 400 DU 450 DU 1,550 DU 10du/ac 58.00 

Conservation       *See footnote 
below. 

Parks 40 Acres 33 Acres 20.75 
Acres 

-- 93.75 Acres 15 % 93.75 

Institutional 50,000 SF 50,000 SF 60,000 SF 14,240 SF 174,240 SF 0.4 8.00 

Hotel -- 100 RMS 100 RMS 200 RMS 400 RMS 0.4 15.00 

 

(* Conservation land use is estimated at 35 to 45 acres and will be identified at the Master 

Site Plan submittal.  Conservation acreage assigned internal to the DRI may result in 

reduced acreage for those land uses affected by the designation of conservation acreage.  

The acreage for any land use may be modified and the location of the conservation lands 

altered without the need for further development-of-regional-impact review if 

implemented by Condition 5 or 6 contained herein, as applicable. As set forth in Condition 

5, designation of conservation lands may also be satisfied through off-site mitigation.)  

 

 

142



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 7 

3. Rezoning.  

A. The City acknowledges that the development of the DRI Property will occur over time and 

in phases.  The City agrees that due to the size and scope of the proposed development, the 

duration of the phasing plan, and the uncertainties in the timeframe for construction of the 

Wekiva Parkway, the Applicant shall be entitled to effect a rezoning for specific parcels or 

increments of the DRI Property prior to physical development within increment being 

undertaken (“Incremental Rezoning”).  Either before or at the time of submittal of an 

application for the first Incremental Rezoning, the Applicant shall also submit a conceptual 

rezoning master plan for the entire DRI Property which shall address conceptually the 

location of the various uses allowed, including common areas and open space, densities 

and intensities for permitted uses, traffic circulation for internal roadways, all in 

conformance with Map H (Exhibit B) and the ADA. Further refinement and detailing of 

the conceptual rezoning master plan as well as a demonstration of conformance with the 

City’s Land Development Code and the Form Based Code shall be demonstrated within 

each Incremental Rezoning application. Additionally, each Incremental Rezoning 

applicable to DRI Property located north of Kelly Park Road shall address the feasibility 

of establishing roadway connections to other properties designated on the Wekiva Parkway 

Interchange Vision Plan, and to establish future connection between the DRI and Round 

Lake Road.  Nothing in this development order shall be construed in such a way as to 

require the applicant/developer to purchase additional properties outside of the Kelly Park 

Crossing DRI in order to obtain such connections. 

B. The DRI Property is currently utilized for agricultural and silvicultural activities.  To 

ensure compatibility between existing and proposed uses, no new or expanded agricultural 

143



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 8 

or silvicultural activity may occur within one hundred (100) feet of those increments of the 

DRI Property rezoned pursuant to this section. 

C. The successful implementation of this development order is dependent upon rezoning(s) 

which, in turn, will require the successful implementation of agreements between the 

Applicant and City for water ,sewer, parks, and recreation, police and fire (generally 

referred to as “binding developer’s agreements).  Such agreements are referenced 

throughout this development order.  All such agreements shall be consistent with City 

requirements as may be identified in the City’s Land Development Regulations or other 

adopted ordinance as well as requirements established by State Law to include Chapter 

380.06 (15)(e) 1. 

 

4. Form Based Code.  The Applicant shall be subject to the Form-Based Code being developed 

by the City for all lands within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. The Form-Based 

Code shall include a master site plan development option (known as Option “B”) for non-

residential development   This Option shall be available for (1) development proposing 

building(s) exceeding 40,000 gross square feet of floor area for larger-scale commercial, 

industrial, and institutional uses; and (2).   office parks, industrial parks, and retail centers 

greater than fifteen (15) acres in size, for college campuses (with or without on-site residential 

housing), hotel convention centers, and hospital campuses greater than eight (8) acres in size. 

The Option “B” master site plan shall be consistent with the Form-Based Code design 

standards for this development option. This Option “B” master site plan shall demonstrate 

compatibility and connectivity with adjacent districts and road systems.  The developer 

requesting an Option “B” master site plan shall demonstrate that average wages and salaries 

144



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 9 

for jobs created by the new development are equal to or greater than the average wages and 

salaries existing in Apopka at the latest decennial U.S. Census or such other data as may be 

acceptable to the City. 

 

5. Conversion of Uses.  

A. The Applicant may increase or decrease the amount of a particular land use within the 

approved development program by using the Equivalency Matrix attached as Exhibit C, 

which is based on equivalent peak hour directional trip ends and is included herein.  In 

order to ensure that a mix of uses is maintained, use of the Equivalency Matrix may 

increase or decrease the total amount of each land use by no more than the amount provided 

for in the Land Use Mix Table at Exhibit C, and consistent with the substantial deviation 

criteria identified in Chapter 380.06(19)(b) 1-14, Florida Statutes, unless the Development 

Order is amended to accommodate such a change.  Greater changes than those discussed 

above shall be considered cumulatively, and shall be subject to normal Development Order 

amendment processes. 

B. Additionally, changes in land use must address changes to potable water usage and identify 

if the potable water capacity and allocation under the applicable consumptive use permit 

are available.  Any time the Equivalency Matrix is used, DEO, ECFRPC, the City, Orange 

County, the FDOT, the SJRWMD, and the School Board of Orange County must be 

provided notice of the proposal at least thirty (30) days in advance of the change.  Use of 

the Equivalency Matrix will be reported on an individual and cumulative basis and impacts 

documented in the biennial report.  Any future Notice of Proposed Change (“NOPC”) shall 

incorporate any changes occurring due to the use of the Equivalency matrix. 

145



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 10 

6. Vegetation and Wildlife. 

A. Listed Species. Site development activities on the Property shall not result in the harming, 

pursuit or harassment of wildlife species classified as endangered, threatened or a species 

of special concern (“listed species”) in contravention of applicable State or Federal laws.  

Should such listed species be at any time determined to be nesting or residing on, or 

otherwise significantly dependent upon the DRI site, the Applicant shall notify FWC, and 

or FWS, as applicable and to the extent required by laws and regulations, the Applicant 

shall cease all activities which might negatively affect that individual or population.  The 

Applicant shall provide proper protection, to the satisfaction of all agencies with 

jurisdiction, as required by statute or regulation. "Harming" and "harassment" as used in 

this recommendation shall be defined in the same manner as "harm" and "harass" 

respectively are defined in 50 CFR Section 17.3.   

B. Preserve Areas. The Applicant may elect to develop the 14 acres, currently designated on 

Map H (Exhibit B) as “preservation”, located south of Kelly Park Road, and, if such an 

election is made, shall establish a preserve for the protection of gopher tortoises, Sherman’s 

fox squirrel and other listed species and indigenous wildlife in the northwest portion of the 

DRI as provided for in the report and recommendations of the ECFRPC. 

Development of the 14-acre area is contingent on other necessary approvals for 

development  (including those identified in this condition) being obtained from the 

SJRWMD, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation 

Commission, and the Department of Environmental Protection, as may be required by law.   

Pursuing this option will add an additional 107 acres, less approximately a 300 foot strip 

along the eastern property boundary to access Ondich Road, to the 31 acre preserve in the 

146



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 11 

northwest portion of the site and allow development of the 14-acre area near the proposed 

interchange.   

As a part of the approval process for the conceptual rezoning master plan referenced in 

Condition 3 (A), the City and the Applicant shall reach an open space and parks agreement 

to preserve a minimum of 45 acres to a maximum of 107 acres for a preservation area. This 

agreement shall consider the appropriate acreage needs for a viable preservation area while 

also considering the park and open space needs for people who live and work within the 

Kelly Park DRI . The maximum preservation area obligation by the Applicant is 107 acres.  

Any acreage above the 45 minimum acres up to the maximum of 107 acres will receive a 

credit towards 50% of the open space requirements set forth in the Form-Based Code. Any 

land set aside for the minimum active recreation area shall not qualify as credit. 

As an alternative to land preservation internal to the DRI, preservation may be satisfied 

through off-site preservation if an off-site mitigation program is jointly accepted by the 

City and FDEP after consultation with the FFWCC. 

C. If a preserve is established, the following principles and guidelines shall be applied via a 

management plan to be established by the Applicant, reviewed by State permitting 

agencies, the City, Orange County, and the ECFRPC, as a non-substantial deviation 

processed as a NOPC. The management plan does not relieve the Applicant of any State 

or Federal permitting requirements. 

a. The location of the preserve is to include the existing temperate hardwoods and the 

improved pasture west and north of the temperate hardwoods, in the northern portion 

of the development (approximately 100 acres). 

b. Mowing, controlled burning or livestock grazing are to be utilized to maintain 

147



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 12 

vegetation height suitable for gopher tortoises, Sherman’s fox squirrels and foraging 

by sandhill cranes. 

c. Pines, preferably longleaf pine, are to be planted in low densities to increase plant 

diversity and structure for nesting for Sherman’s fox squirrel.  Pines are not to be 

planted in densities that would impact gopher tortoises. 

d. Pedestrian trails and trail infrastructure that do not impact listed species are 

recommended. 

e. The road, currently shown on Map H (Exhibit B) shall be relocated such that it does 

not intersect the temperate hardwood area, but is moved eastward closer to the eastern 

property line. 

f. Wetland buffers shall be consistent with the requirements of State permitting agencies 

or the requirements of the City, whichever is more stringent. 

g. Drought tolerant plants adapted to site conditions shall be utilized. 

h. The Applicant shall identify recreation uses that will be allowed in conservation areas. 

The Management Plan shall also include the following components: 

i. Provide for management of gopher tortoises consistent with applicable Florida law. 

j. Establish protocols for exotic and nuisance wildlife and plant control. 

k. Establish a bear management plan that provides educational materials for residents 

regarding deterrent methods to reduce human-bear conflicts, provide for a trash 

receptacle and dumpster program to manage potential bear and other wildlife intrusion 

and develop rules or ordinances that require business and residents to secure wildlife 

attractants to prevent potential conflicts with bears. 

l. Provide for future residents education regarding the purpose and methods of the 

management plan. 

148



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 13 

m. Provide for installation of kestrel nesting boxes at an appropriate density consistent 

with the known kestrel population on-site, if any. 

n. Provide for the control of feral and free roaming cats to prevent the depredation of 

Sherman’s fox squirrels and other listed species and indigenous wildlife as 

recommended by the FWC. 

o. Establish wildlife crossings on interior roads to maintain habitat connectivity where 

appropriate. 

p. Establish conservation easements and adequate funding to secure and manage 

preserved areas in perpetuity as needed to implement the management plan.  

Conservation easements will be conveyed to the SJRWMD, the City, Orange County, 

the Nature Conservancy, or Florida Audubon, or any other conservation organization 

whose purpose is the management and preservation of lands.  

q. Conduct biennial wildlife surveys to measure the preserve’s success and provide for 

biennial reporting of the implementation and effectiveness of the management plan at 

the time of the biennial report. 

r. Develop a mechanism to make modifications to the management plan that are approved 

via permitting with such modifications being reported within the appropriate biennial 

report. 

 

7. Recreation/Parks 

The Applicant and the City shall enter into a binding developer’s agreement to address the 

provision of parks and recreational facilities for the Kelly Park Crossing DRI prior to 

approval of the first Incremental Rezoning. 

 

149



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 14 

8. Water Supply and Water Conservation 

A. The City’s consumptive use permit which expires on September 13, 2031, is anticipated to 

meet the needs of the City’s projected population including the development generated by 

the DRI.  However, each phase of the DRI, beyond phase 1 as identified in the Condition 

2, Project Description, of this Development Order, shall proceed only upon confirmation 

of adequate water supply sources to support the development of said phase through the 

City’s consumptive use permit or other sources that are approved by the SJRWMD.  

B. Reasonably available lower-quality sources of water, including storm water, surface water, 

and reclaimed water, must be distributed for use or used throughout the DRI in place of 

higher quality water sources according to the SJRWMD rules and applicable state law.  

Storm water, surface water and reclaimed water shall be maximized as nonpotable water 

sources for irrigation. 

C. Any wells no longer in use within the DRI boundary shall be properly plugged and 

abandoned in accordance with SJRWMD rules and regulations.  Any change in the use of 

the wells is subject to SJRWMD’s approval of an appropriate CUP consistent with adopted 

SJRWMD rules. 

D. Each multifamily residential unit subject to an individual deed for property ownership and 

nonresidential multi-unit structures shall use submeters for potable water.  Multifamily 

residential units not subject to individual deeds shall use master meters.  

E. . Development within the Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall comply with applicable provisions 

of the City’s Landscape and Irrigation Ordinance No. 2069. 

F. The covenants, codes and deed restrictions shall require that only U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency Water Sense-labeled water-conserving fixtures or equivalent 

150



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 15 

performing fixtures shall be installed in all residential and nonresidential buildings and 

structures. 

G. The covenants, codes and deed restrictions shall require that only U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency Energy Star-labeled water-conserving fixtures or equivalent performing 

fixtures shall be installed in all residential and nonresidential buildings and structures. 

 

H. The Applicant shall implement the water conservation practices described in the ADA and 

subsequent sufficiency responses to maximize water conservation and enhance water 

quality. 

I. The Applicant shall obtain water from the City subject to the City’s rate resolutions and 

ordinances. The Applicant shall enter into an agreement with the City addressing the timing 

and funding of potable water and nonpotable water infrastructure projects that are needed 

to support the DRI. 

J. A distribution system for nonpotable water (i.e., storm water, surface water and reclaimed 

water) shall be installed concurrently with both residential and nonresidential development 

within the DRI.  The Applicant and the City shall enter into an agreement addressing the 

timing and funding of the nonpotable water system.  The nonpotable distribution system 

shall be developed parallel to and concurrently with the potable water distribution system 

for utilization.  All irrigation systems installed in the development shall be designed to 

accept nonpotable water. 

 

9. Wastewater Management. 

A. Development of the DRI shall proceed concurrent with the provision of adequate central 

sewer service meeting the adopted level of service standards in the City Comprehensive 

151



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 16 

Plan.  The Applicant shall enter into an agreement with the City addressing responsibility 

for the design, construction and funding of central sewer lines to service the DRI. 

 

10. Stormwater Management. 

A. The stormwater management system shall be designed as a stormwater reuse system, when 

feasible, to maximize the amount of surface water that will be available for irrigation needs 

throughout the development.  

B. The Applicant will employ best management practices for erosion and turbidity control.  

C. Low Impact Development (LID) techniques are recommended for the stormwater system 

to the extent allowed by the SJRWMD.  Consultation with the Program for Resource 

Efficient Communities at the University of Florida’s Institute for Food and Agricultural 

Services is recommended. 

D. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall comply with applicable provisions of the City’s 

Landscape and Irrigation Ordinance No. 2069.    

 

11. Energy & Technology.  

A. Development within the DRI shall comply with the City’s natural gas ordinance that is 

being developed.  This requirement shall not be used to prohibit development until an 

ordinance is adopted.  Any site plan or subdivision plan submitted within Kelly Park 

Crossing prior to such adoption will be vested from this ordinance. 

 

12. Solid Waste.  Development within the DRI shall occur consistent with the adopted level of 

service standards for solid waste identified in the City Comprehensive Plan.  The handling, 

152



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 17 

storage, transportation and disposal of any hazardous materials within the DRI will comply 

with local, state, and federal rules, regulations and laws.  All users, generators and operators 

within the DRI property shall be required to adhere to all federal, state and local laws, codes, 

ordinances, rules and regulations with respect to the use, management and disposal of 

hazardous waste. 

 

13. Fire, Police, EMS.  Police, fire and EMS service will be provided by the City.  This condition 

does not preclude the application of interlocal agreements for mutual support.  

The Applicant and the City shall enter into a binding developer’s agreement to address the 

provision of fire, police, and EMS services for Kelly Park Crossing DRI, prior to the approval 

of the first Incremental Rezoning. Fire/Police/EMS Facilities sites constitutes an Institutional 

use for purposes of the development program at Condition 2.   

14. Affordable Housing.  The Affordable Housing Analysis prepared for the Kelly Park 

Crossing DRI ADA using the approved ECFRPC methodology concluded that affordable 

housing will be available at the conclusion of Phase 1.  Additional studies shall be conducted 

for all future phases prior to their commencement.  If the ECFRPC methodology is applied, 

compliance with the ECFRPC methodology shall also mean meeting the requirements to 

appropriately mitigate impacts for each phase as identified in said methodology.  The Kelly 

Park Crossing DRI can mitigate for very low and/or low affordable housing deficiencies with 

accessory dwelling units only if found by the City to be consistent with existing zoning 

requirements and supporting land development regulations. 

15. Education.  The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall enter an agreement with the Orange County 

School Board to address school capacity needs created by the DRI. 

153



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 18 

16. Transportation. 

a. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall be divided into the following vehicular traffic phases 

based on reaching any of the following thresholds or years, as indicated below.   

 

Phase 

&Year 

Daily 

Trips 

Daily Trips 

Cumulative 

External* 

Daily 

Trips 

External* 

Daily Trips 

Cumulative 

Peak 

Hour 

Trips 

Peak Hour 

Trips 

Cumulative 

External* 

Peak Hour 

Trips 

External* 

Peak Hour  

Trips  

Cumulative 

Phase 1 

2023 
17,907** 17,907 16,121 16,121 1,497 1,497 1,332 1,332 

Phase 2 

2028 
58,868 76,775 46,078 62,199 5,979 7,476 5,089 6,421 

Phase 3 

2033 

40,708 117,483 32,375 94,574 4,215 11,691 3,507 9,928 

Phase 4 

2038 
21,041 138,521 47,388 141,962 2,533 14,224 2,153 12,081 

External trips reflect anticipated internalization reductions but not passer-by reductions 

 

Phase 1 shall be 17,907 daily trips.   Mitigation for phase 1 development must be secured by a 

development agreement prior to commencement of phase 1 development. Subsequent to phase 

1 but prior to the initiation of each phase thereafter as identified in the preceding paragraph, 

the Applicant shall conduct a monitoring/modeling (M&M) program.  This program shall 

ascertain the Level of Service (“LOS”) on facilities where the pending phase  of (starting with 

phase 2) Kelly Park Crossing DRI is estimated to contribute an amount of traffic greater than 

or equal to five percent (5%) of the adopted LOS service volume.  The methodology of the 

M&M program shall be agreed upon by the City, the ECFRPC, Orange County, Lake County, 

the Florida Department of Transportation (“FDOT”), and the Florida Department of Economic 

Opportunity and the Applicant.  The depth of each M&M effort shall be similar to that required 

154



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 19 

within an ADA (to include all subsequent phases for projected roadway adversity testing) but 

shall be consistent with the requirements of the City Concurrency Management Systems (if in 

effect) as it relates to facilities within that jurisdiction.  Empirical data will be required to be 

collected for the M&M program on facilities where it is estimated that the DRI contributes an 

amount of traffic greater than or equal to five percent (5%) of the adopted LOS maximum 

service volume.  This may include an origin-destination survey to verify DRI trip distribution 

on the external roadway network no earlier than seventy-five percent (75%) through any 

applicable Phase.  The origin-destination survey shall also verify the percentage of DRI trips 

that travel on the Wekiva Parkway.  A trip generation and internal capture study shall be 

performed to verify trip generation and internal capture assumptions for the development.  In 

the event that all parties cannot come to agreement on the methodology, the ECFRPC, FDOT, 

the City, Orange County and Lake County shall be the final arbiters.  The City’s decision shall 

be final as it relates to its facilities; if required by law, the FDOT’s decision shall be final on 

the strategic intermodal system; Orange County’s decision shall be final on Orange County 

facilities; Lake County’s decision shall be final on Lake County facilities; and the ECFRPC’s 

decisions shall be final as it relates to all other facilities. Each M&M program shall provide a 

roadway needs analysis for each future phase as well as the phase being tested for mitigation 

requirements. 

The facilities to be monitored/modeled for the next phase shall include, but shall not be limited 

to, those segments of the regional roadways listed below and one segment beyond where the 

Kelly Park Crossing DRI phase is estimated to contribute a cumulative amount of traffic 

greater than or equal to five percent (5%) of the adopted LOS service volume.  The analyzed 

155



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 20 

facilities will include signalized intersections and link analyses of collector and higher 

classified roadways and interchange ramps. 

The City, the ECFRPC, Orange County, Lake County, FDOT, and DEO shall have the right to 

make reasonable requests for additional information from the Applicant to verify adherence to 

these provisions.  The Applicant shall supply adequate information toward compliance with 

these requirements. 

Candidate Roadways for Monitoring and Modeling 

Roadway Facility From To 

US 441 CR 473 Bradshaw Road 

SR 46 US 441 CR 437 north 

SR 429 (Expressway) Florida’s Turnpike Apopka Bypass  

(John Land Expressway) 

Wekiva Parkway SR 429 Interstate 4 

CR 435 (Rock Springs Road) Kelly Park Road Sandpiper Road 

CR 435 (Park Avenue) Sandpiper Road Cleveland Street 

CR 435 (Clarcona Road Cleveland Street Clarcona-Ocoee Road 

CR 437 CR 44A Orange-Lake County Line 

Plymouth –Sorrento Road Orange-Lake County Line US 441 

Welch Road Vick Road Wekiva Springs Road 

Binion Road/Orange Avenue Apopka Ocoee Road US 441 

Errol Parkway Lake Francis Drive Lake Arden Drive 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 

Haas Road Plymouth Sorrento Road Mt. Plymouth Road 

Jason Dwelley Parkway Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 

Kelly Park Road Round Lake Road Rock Springs Road 

Lake Francis Drive Schopke Lester Road Vick Road 

Lester Road Schopke Road Plymouth Sorrento Road 

Mt. Plymouth Road Kelly Park Road Lake County Line 

CR 435 Orange County Line SR 46 

Ondich Road Round Lake Road Plymouth Sorrento Road 

Ponkan Road Orange Blossom Trail Rock Springs Road 

Round Lake Road Ponkan Road Wolf Branch Road 

156



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 21 

Sadler Avenue Lake County Line Orange Blossom Trail 

Sadler Avenue/Sadler Road Orange Blossom Trail Round Lake Road 

Vick Road Old Dixie Highway Ponkan Road 

Wolf Branch Road US 441 CR 437 

Yothers Road US 441 Plymouth Sorrento Road 

 

 

b. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall not commence beyond Phase 1 (as defined herein) 

into Phase 2 or into subsequent phases  when service levels are below the minimum 

service level adopted in the applicable local government’s comprehensive plan during 

the peak hour and if the DRI is projected to contribute with the next phase of traffic, 

five percent (5%) of the adopted LOS service volume of the roadway or intersection 

unless mitigation measures and/or improvements are secured and committed for 

completion of construction during the phase in which the impacts occur.  Backlogged 

facilities shall be exempt from mitigation requirements.  This shall be determined by 

the M&M program required in the preceding condition. The schedule of required 

roadway improvements shall be tied to the development level when the improvement 

is needed within each phase.  The Development Order shall be amended to incorporate 

the required improvements and the commensurate trip level by which the improvement 

is needed to support DRI development.   

c. Adequate “secured and committed” mitigation measures shall include one of the 

following: 

i. A roadway improvement scheduled for construction within the first three (3) 

years of the appropriate local government’s adopted comprehensive plan capital 

improvement element (or as otherwise provided in the applicable jurisdiction’s 

capital improvement element) or; a roadway improvement scheduled for 

157



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 22 

construction within the first three (3) years of the FDOT’s five-year Work 

Program. 

ii. A binding, financially secured and irrevocable commitment by the Applicant or 

other appropriate persons or entities for the design, engineering, land acquisition 

and actual construction of the necessary improvements coupled with the posting 

of a cash bond, surety bond, irrevocable letter of credit, escrow account or other 

security in a form acceptable to the agency of jurisdiction within the next three 

(3) years and incorporated by reference into the development order. 

iii. Any other mitigation option specifically provided for in this development order. 

iv. Any other mitigation option permitted by law, including but not limited to a local 

government development agreement consistent with Chapter 163, Florida 

Statutes, which ameliorates the projected impact and is incorporated into the DRI 

Development Order by amendment. 

v. A proportionate share agreement provided by the Applicant with the City and the 

jurisdiction or agency whose roadway is impacted, pursuant to Rule 9J-2.045, 

F.A.C., and Chapter 380.06(15)(e), or Section 163.3180(5)(h)3.,Florida Statutes, 

if applicable at time of agreement.   

d. The above mitigation measures shall occur by the required threshold in order for the 

DRI to proceed through the balance of the applicable phase.  If the Applicant can 

demonstrate that a portion of a phase does not adversely affect the Regional Roadway 

network as determined by the M&M tests discussed above, then the Applicant may 

proceed with that portion of the phase (and only that portion). 

158



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 23 

e. In the event that a roadway widening is identified which is not compatible with adopted 

policy of the FDOT or local government (e.g., constrained), the Applicant, the City, or 

the party having either maintenance or jurisdictional responsibility for the facility, shall 

determine alternate mitigation solutions to provide for the movement of people. 

 

G. Toward the achievement of the objectives in the two preceding conditions, an agreement(s) 

among the City, Orange County, Lake County, the FDOT, the OOCEA and the Applicant 

may be created to address and clarify such issues related to equity in the application of 

collected fees for transportation improvements.  In such an event, application of fees shall 

be applied in a manner consistent with the appropriate rules adopted by the State of Florida 

or by existing interlocal agreements.  However, such an agreement would not alter or waive 

the provisions and requirements of the other conditions of the Development Order as a 

mitigated measure for the transportation impacts for the Kelly Park Crossing DRI.  In the 

event that one of the designated parties to the agreement (other than the Applicant) fails to 

execute said interlocal agreement(s) within the specified time, then the Applicant may 

proceed with the DRI based upon the modeling M&M schedule and all other 

recommendations specified herein as it affects the non-participating party.  Separate 

agreements may be entered into with one or more parties and the Applicant. 

H. The following table lists the Phase 1 improvement needs required to mitigate the DRI’s 

intersection impacts during Phase 1.  The City and the Applicant shall enter into a 

proportionate share agreement which addresses the improvement costs, timing of 

mitigation payments, the option of pipelining proportionate share mitigation fees, and 

159



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 24 

adequate provisions for transportation impact fee credits against proportionate share and 

mitigation fees. 

Phase 1 Intersection Improvement Needs 

Roadway/Intersection  Proposed Improvement  

SR 46 at CR 437 South  Provide a NB right-turn lane  

US 441 at Sadler Avenue  Provide EB and WB left-turn lanes  

US 441 at Plymouth-Sorrento Road  Re-stripe to provide an EB and WB 

auxiliary through lane along US 441. 

Restripe SB approach to provide an 

exclusive SB right-turn and shared SB lane 

for left and right-turns.  

Kelly Park Road at Round Lake Road  Add WB right-turn lane.  

Kelly Park Road at Plymouth-Sorrento 

Road  

Add EB left-turn lane and re-time signal  

Ponkan Road at Plymouth-Sorrento 

Road  

Add NB left-turn lane and re-time signal  

 

I. The following list of improvements has been identified as the result of significant and 

adverse impacts from the Kelly Park Crossing DRI.  It is anticipated that these will be 

refined by the M&M process prior to each phase.  Since widening of roadways may not be 

compatible with state and local plans, transit operations or alternate parallel facility 

improvements should also be considered.  A timeframe and responsible party for the 

implementation of the following improvements, as amended by the M&M program, shall 

be identified at the beginning of each phase.   

Phase 2 (2020) 

Roadway From To Improvement Need 

US 441 Yothers Road Hermit Smith Road 6 Lane Divided 

Plymouth Sorrento 

Road 

Park Avenue 6 Lane Divided 

SR 46 Vista View Round Lake Road 4 Lane Divided 

160



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 25 

CR 437 South CR 437 North 4 Lane Divided 

Welch Road Vick Road Rock Springs Road 4 Lane Divided 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Golden Gem Road Plymouth Sorrento 

Road 

4 Lane Divided 

Round Lake Road Orange County Line Wolf Branch Road 4 Lane Divided 

Phase 3 (2025) 

US 441 SR 19/Duncan Drive US 19/Bay Street 8 Lane Divided 

Equivalent 

Donnelly Street Wolf Branch Road 6 Lane Divided 

Yothers Road Bradshaw Road 6 Lane Divided 

SR 46 US 441 Round Lake Road 4 Land Divided 

CR 437 South CR 437 North 4 Lane Divided 

SR 429 (Expressway) Florida’s Turnpike Plant Street 6 Lane Expressway 

CR 435/Park Avenue Orange Street US 441 6 Lane Divided 

CR 435/Clarcona 

Road 

Keene Road Clarcona-Ocoee Road 4 Lane Divided 

Welch Road Vick Road Rock Springs Road 4 Lane Divided 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Golden Gem Road Jason Dwelley Parkway 4 Lane Divided 

Round Lake Road Orange County Line Wolf Branch Road 4 Lane Divided 

Sadler Road Lake County Line Round Tree Road 4 Lane Divided 

Vick Road Welch Road Lake Francis Drive 4 Lane Divided 

Wolf Branch Road US 441 Britt Road 4 Lane Divided 

Phase 4 (2030)    

US 441 CR 473 Old US 441 8 Lane Divided 

Equivalent 

SR 19/Duncan Drive Donnelly Street 8 Lane Divided 

Equivalent 

Donnelly Street Sadler Road 6 Lane Divided 

Yothers Road Bradshaw Road 6 Lane Divided 

SR 46 US 441 Round Lake Road 4 Lane Divided 

CR 437 South CR 437 North 4 Lane Divided 

SR 429 (Expressway) Florida’s Turnpike Apopka Bypass 6 Lane Expressway 

Kelly Park Road Rock Ridge Boulevard 6 Lane Divided 

161



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 26 

CR 435/Rock Springs 

Road 

Welch Road Sandpiper Road 6 Lane Divided 

CR 435/Park Avenue US 441 M Gladded Boulevard 4 Lane Divided 

CR 435/Clarcona 

Road 

Cleveland Street Clarcona-Ocoee Road 4 Lane Divided 

CR 437 SR 44 Orange County Line 4 Lane Divided 

Welch Road Vick Road Ustler Road 4 Lane Divided 

Golden Gem Road Kelly Park Road Ponkan Road 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Round Lake Road Jason Dwelley Parkway 4 Lane Divided 

Kelly Park Road Mt. Plymouth-

Sorrento Road 

Rock Springs Road. 4 Lane Divided 

CR 435 Orange County Line Dubstread Drive 4 Lane Divided 

Round Lake Road Kelly Park Road Wolf Branch Road 4 Lane Divided 

Sadler Road Lake County Line Round Tree Road 4 Lane Divided 

Vick Road Welch Road Lester Road 4 Lane Divided 

Wolf Branch Road US 441 Britt Road 4 Lane 

Divided 

 

J. If the modeling M&M results as set forth above show that improvements must be made to 

roadway facilities, and if mitigation is not provided as set forth in these conditions or as 

otherwise required pursuant to Rule 9J-2.045(7), then prior to any construction of future 

phases and subject to the provisions of Chapter 380.06(15)(e), Florida Statutes, the 

Applicant, the City and the entity with jurisdiction over the roadway facility may enter into 

an agreement which ensures that: 

i. proportionate share payment is made by the Applicant to the appropriate entity(ies) 

to mitigate DRI impacts; and 

ii. said proportionate share payment shall be used by the appropriate entity only for the 

design, engineering, right-of-way purchase, permitting and/or construction of 

improvement to the segments/intersections for which the payment is made; and  

162



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 27 

iii. said proportionate share payment by the Applicant constitutes adequate provision for 

the public facilities needed with respect to the road segments to accommodate the 

impacts of the DRI through the phase for which the proportionate share was 

calculated, as required by Chapter 380.15(e)(2), Florida Statutes.  All such 

proportionate share agreements shall be included in this Development Order by 

amendment pursuant to Chapter 380.06(19), Florida Statutes.  The formula to be used 

to determine proportionate share contribution is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

iv. For this formula, DRI Trips is the cumulative number of trips from the development 

expected to reach the roadway during the peak hour from the phase under 

development.  Service Volume (“SV”) increase is the change in peak hour maximum 

service volume of the roadway resulting from construction of the improvement 

necessary to maintain the desired level of service; and Cost of Improvement is the 

cost (at the time of Applicant’s payment) of constructing an improvement necessary 

to maintain the desired level of service, including all improvement associated costs 

(engineering design, right-of-way acquisition, planning, engineering, inspection and 

other associated physical development costs directly required and associated with the 

construction of the improvement) as determined by the governmental agency having 

maintenance obligations over the roadway.  Transit service and facilities shall be 

considered in the proportionate share calculations. 

v. Pursuant to COMMUNITY PLANNING ACT OF 2011 (2011-139 F.S.), the 

proportionate share provisions above shall be reexamined to address the provisions 

(DRI Trips)   x  Cost = Proportionate Share 

SV Increase 

163



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 28 

contained therein, and, in the event of a conflict, the Statute shall prevail.  Nothing in 

this development order shall require the Applicant to fund improvements when such 

funding is inconsistent with the provisions of Florida Statute or Florida 

Administrative Code.   Should an agency disagree with an exemption allowed by the 

City under this paragraph, the final arbiter on interpreting the Act shall be the DEO.  

 

K. Notwithstanding any provision contained herein to the contrary, except as specifically 

agreed to in writing, the City and the entity with jurisdiction over the roadway facility shall 

have no financial responsibility to contribute to or participate in the funding of the design, 

engineering, permitting and/or construction of roadway improvements unless otherwise 

required to do so by State law.  

L. The M&M required prior to each phase or subphase shall be used to verify impacts from 

previous phases and to more accurately estimate probable impacts from later phases.  The 

M&M program undertaken prior to Phase 2 shall also assess full buildout.  If necessary, 

the proportionate share amount will be adjusted to reflect actual impacts from a phase and 

the more accurate information, which will result from the estimates for later phases.  If it 

is verified that the roadway improvements mentioned above are still needed, then the DRI 

shall not proceed into later phases until either the proportionate share payment is made or 

the needed improvements are scheduled for construction in the applicable entities’ work 

program within the first three (3) years from the date when impacts are estimated to be 

significant and adverse.   Pursuant to the COMMUNITY PLANNING ACT OF 2011, the 

requirements above shall be reexamined to address the provisions contained therein.  In the 

event that the Act (COMMUNITY PLANNING ACT OF 2011) addresses the mitigation 

164



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 29 

of transportation impacts in a different manner than those options provided herein, the 

Applicant may elect to utilize the options afforded by the Act.  

M. Student enrollment for the community college shall initially be limited to 1,866 students. 

However, if the demand for additional enrollment is established in the future, the 

conversion matrix may be applied to convert from another use such that the peak-hour 

peak-direction trips for the current phase of the Kelly Park DRI are not increased.  

N. The Kelly Park DRI shall not proceed with any portion of the development program that 

would result in DRI trips above the threshold identified for Phase 1 until the Wekiva 

Parkway toll facility is constructed and operational. In the event that construction of the 

Wekiva Parkway is terminated or delayed indefinitely, additional local and state review 

and approvals will be required for any portion of the DRI beyond Phase 1 to reevaluate 

impacts and the viability of future development phases.  

O. If the parties cannot reach agreement independently prior to the date when impacts are 

estimated to be significant and adverse, or if so desired by the parties at any time, then the 

issues in dispute shall be submitted to the ECFRPC for either voluntary mediation pursuant 

to its adopted dispute resolution process or to binding arbitration pursuant to the rules and 

procedures of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) unless otherwise agreed by 

the parties in dispute.  The solutions recommended as a result of this process shall be 

implemented and the Development Order amended pursuant to Chapter 380.06(19), 

Florida Statutes, to include these solutions.   

P. In order to provide safe access and to preserve operational capacity, the need for 

deceleration lanes shall be determined by the appropriate permitting agencies and if 

required, installed by the Applicant.  The Applicant and the appropriate permitting agencies 

165



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 30 

shall confirm the need for and the cost of signalization at the DRI entrances consistent with 

policies of the City and the appropriate permitting agencies.  Signal costs and geometric 

improvements at DRI entrances are the financial responsibility of the Applicant through 

DRI buildout unless other traffic warrants such signalization or improvements in advance 

of DRI demand or other nearby development contributes traffic to the subject intersection, 

in which case, the Applicant may pay an appropriate fair share for signalization costs as 

determined by the City. 

Q. The development plan will include multiple roadways through the Kelly Park Crossing 

DRI in order to provide adequate capacity, to provide alternative routes and to lessen the 

impacts to community cohesiveness.   

R. To reduce the impacts on arterial roads, the Kelly Park Crossings DRI will include a 

gridded and connected street network and shall restrict cul-du-sacs and dead end streets 

except as may be provided in Condition 4, Option B, of this development order.  The DRI 

will connect to existing and future street networks on and off site when practical as 

determined by the City in conjunction with Orange County.  The applicant will not be 

required to purchase additional property(ies) to implement this condition.  Nothing in this 

recommendation is intended to preclude the Applicant from developing a use where a 

campus is desired without a grid network, or in the event that a grid network would create 

otherwise unnecessary environmental impacts to wetlands or upland preserve areas. 

S. The Applicant shall cooperate with LYNX to identify the need and confirm the steps 

necessary to implement the following: 

i. By Phase 3, identify a potential location for a 200 space park and ride lot proximate 

to the Wekiva Parkway and Kelly Park Road interchange, which may be shared with 

166



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 31 

commercial uses. 

ii. Coordinate with LYNX and Kelly Park Crossing DRI businesses to promote 

workplace flextime strategies. 

iii. Reserve sites with adequate size and accessibility for future transit routes, stops and 

amenities (passenger shelters, transit parking bays and parking spaces for vanpool 

vehicles) in the development area.  During the design, the Applicant shall consult the 

Lynx Central Florida Mobility Design Manual available at www.golynx.com under 

publications. 

iv. Preferential parking for employees who participate in ridesharing programs. 

v. Financial assistance to provide a route to the site once LYNX and the City determine 

that ridership levels justify such a connection to the system.  Said financial 

contribution shall be based on a proportionate share of ridership to or from the Kelly 

Park Crossing DRI, to the extent allowed by law. 

vi. Coordinate with FDOT’s ReThink program (www.rethinkyourcommute.com) in 

order to increase the modal split of the DRI.   

vii. Should the Orange Blossom Express (along the US 441 corridor through Apopka) 

become operational for rail transit, the Applicant shall assess actions to facilitate 

ridership on the system, including but not limited to shuttle operations to and from 

the nearest station during peak traffic  hours. 

T. In the interest of safety, and to promote alternative forms of transportation, the Applicant 

shall provide the following bicycle and pedestrian systems:  

i. The on-site bicycle systems shall be connected into any external bicycle systems 

abutting the Kelly Park Crossing DRI and existing at the time of construction within 

167



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 32 

the DRI, and shall anticipate the connection to the Wekiva Trail.   

ii. Bicycle and pedestrian facilities shall adhere to minimum state standards as contained 

in the Florida Bicycle Facilities Planning and Design Handbook. 

iii. Provided that there is no conflict with the City’s adopted Form Based Code, covered 

walkways shall be designed into the front of non-residential structures to the 

maximum extent practicable, but such provision shall not be construed so as to create 

a mandatory design element, but to create a heightened sensitivity to ensuring cover 

from the elements for pedestrians. 

iv. In all areas of the Kelly Park Crossing DRI where cycling will be accomplished on 

both sidewalk/bikeways and streets, appropriate signage identifying bike routes shall 

be installed. 

v. Special consideration shall be given to bikeways connecting neighboring residential 

areas to employment and commercial areas and schools.   

vi. Bicycle support facilities, such as parking racks and/or lockers, shall be provided at 

commercial areas and work areas.   

vii. DRI roadways and improvements to area roadways approaching the site are 

recommended to incorporate bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

 

17. Historical and Archaeological Sites. The Applicant, or any other subsequent developers 

developing within the DRI, shall notify, or ensure the notification of construction personnel, 

through posted advisories or other methods, of the potential for artifact discoveries on the Kelly 

Park Crossing DRI site and to report suspected findings to the DRI manager.  In the event of 

discovery of artifacts of historic or archaeological significance during construction, the 

Applicant and/or subsequent developers shall immediately halt any construction activity within 

168



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 33 

one hundred fifty (150) feet of the location of any discovery that has the potential to adversely 

affect the archeological find; and will, within three (3) business days of the discovery of 

artifacts notify the City and the Division of Historical Resources (“DHR”) of the Florida 

Department of State.  Thereafter, the Applicant will coordinate the evaluation of the artifacts 

with review agencies and provide any professional assistance necessary to document, relocate, 

preserve or conserve the site and/or physical artifacts; provide proper protection of the 

discovery in accordance with applicable law; and provide a written report to the agencies listed 

above documenting the results of the site evaluation and mitigation/preservation actions 

proposed or completed. The process and actions described above shall not extend beyond one 

hundred twenty (120) days to allow evaluation of the site, and, thereafter, the Applicant may 

continue with development. 

 

18.  Green Development Standards. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall meet the standards of 

any of the following: the US Green Building Council’s (USGBC) Leadership in Energy and 

Environmental Design (LEED) rating system, the Florida Green Building Coalition (FGBC), 

the Green Building Initiative’s Green Globes program or any other nationally recognized, 

green building system that is approved by the Department of Management Services (DMS).The 

Kelly Park Crossing DRI shall at a minimum, meet Energy Star standards for all development. 

 

19. Outdoor Lighting. Appropriate “dark skies” measures shall be implemented in all new 

construction except in areas proximate to the interchange area, provided that acceptable public 

safety and security are maintained.  Actions to direct lights downward and away from existing 

rural areas may be based upon the Model Lighting Ordinance Users Guide from the 

169



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 34 

Illuminating Engineering Society.  These provisions may be accessed at 

http://docs.darksky.org/MLO/MLO_FINAL_June2011.pdf. 

 

20. Monitoring Official and Procedures. The City Administrator, or his or her designee, shall be 

responsible for monitoring the development and enforcing the provisions of this Development 

Order.  The City shall not issue any permits or approvals or provide any extensions of services 

if the Applicant fails to comply with this Development Order. This Development Order will 

be enforced by the City of Apopka through implementation of its adopted Comprehensive Plan, 

Land Development Code, Code Enforcement by the designated Zoning Official of the City, 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 380.11, Florida Statutes, or as otherwise provided by law. 

 

21.  Phasing and Buildout. The Kelly Park Crossing DRI is to be developed as a four-phase 

project as described in the table below.  The projected buildout date for all DRI development 

is December 31, 2038.  The Applicant shall commence physical development of five percent 

(5%) of Phase 1 of the DRI (e.g. one hundred seventy-two (172) [residential units, commercial 

square footage, etc.] or equivalent number of PM peak-hour external trips) within twelve (12) 

years after the effective date of this Development Order, otherwise this Development Order 

shall expire.  Should the Applicant donate property to the City for an institutional use (e.g. fire 

station, police station, City Hall Annex, etc.) the maximum FAR allowed under the adopted 

comprehensive plan shall be assigned to the parcel and the square footages resulting from this 

analysis shall be applied to the 5% of phase 1 referenced herein. Alternatively, should the 

applicant commence construction on the spine road from Kelly Park Crossing to Ondich Road 

within ten years of the effective date of this development order then the five percent threshold 

170



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 35 

shall have been met. The Applicant and the City estimate that approximately twenty (20) years 

will be required to complete the development described herein once development has 

commenced.   

 

Since adoption of the Form Based Code (FBC) is required and since the applicant is prohibited 

from proceeding with project development until such time of its adoption, the City and the 

applicant agree that the dates contained herein may be adjusted to reflect the FBC adoption 

date.  Commencement shall be the date of adoption of the FBC.  Expiration is estimated to be 

20 years from commencement, with four five year phases in between.  No further amendments 

to this development order will be necessary to adjust the commencement, phase, down zoning, 

or expiration dates made in order to adjust to the Form Based Code’s adoption. 

 

Development within a given phase of Kelly Park crossing may occur anywhere within the 

project so long as the conditions of this development order are met and said development has 

obtained all other necessary approvals and permits. 

 

22. Biennial Reporting Requirement. In accordance with Chapter 380.06(18), Florida 

Statutes, the Applicant, its successors or assigns, shall submit a biennial report on or before the 

two year anniversary date of this Development Order and in every other or second year 

thereafter during the buildout of the DRI (the "Biennial Report").  The Biennial Report shall 

be submitted to the City, the ECFRPC, the DCA (or successor agency, as applicable), the 

SJRWMD and all affected agencies formally requesting copies of the same in writing to the 

Applicant.  The contents of the Biennial Report shall comply with the relevant conditions of 

171



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 36 

approval of this Development Order, Chapter 380.06(18), Florida Statutes, Rule 9J-2.025(7), 

F.A.C, and any and all other and further information required under applicable law.  The 

Biennial Report shall include a statement that all persons/agencies listed above or otherwise 

entitled to receive the Biennial Report have been sent copies and the failure to timely submit 

the Biennial Report may subject the Applicant and the Kelly Park Crossing DRI to the 

temporary suspension of this Development Order in accordance with Chapter 380.06(18), 

Florida Statutes. In each biennial report the Applicant shall provide information and 

documentation as to how and in what manner the DRI is striving to meet and/or is meeting the 

foregoing energy goals.  

 

23. Downzoning Protection. In accordance with Section 380.06(15), Florida Statutes, the DRI, as 

approved in this Development Order, shall not be subject to downzoning, unit density 

reduction, or intensity reduction before December 31, 2038, as such date may be extended, 

unless the Applicant consents to such change, or the City demonstrates that substantial changes 

in the conditions underlying the approval of the Development Order have occurred or unless 

the City demonstrates that the Development Order was based on substantially inaccurate 

information provided by the Applicant or unless the change is clearly established by the City 

to be essential to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

 

 

 

  

172



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 37 

Glossary of Acronyms Used 

AAA American Arbitration Association 

ACOE/USACOE Army Corps of Engineers 

ADA  Application for Development Approval 

AM&M Annual Monitoring & Modeling 

BRT Bus Rapid Transit 

CCR Codes, Covenants and Restrictions 

CDD Community Development District 

CSDA Critical Smoke Dispersal Area 

 DEO  Department of Economic Opportunity 

DHR Division of Historical Resources 

DO Development Order 

DRI Development of Regional Impact 

ECFRPC East Central Florida Regional Planning Council 

ERP Environmental Review Permit 

FAC Florida Administrative Code 

FDEP Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

FDOT Florida Department of Transportation 

FFWCC/FWC Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission 

FGBC Florida Green Building Coalition  

FIHS Florida Intrastate Highway System 

FLEPPC Florida Exotic Pest Plant Council 

USFWC/FWC US Fish and Wildlife Service 

HMP Habitat Management Plan 

LEED Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 

LOS Level of Service 

MDA Master Development Association 

173



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 38 

M&M Monitoring & Modeling 

MMTD Multimodal Transit District 

MPO Metropolitan Planning Organization 

NOPC Notification of a Proposed Change 

OHW Ordinary High Water 

SFS Sherman’s fox squirrel 

SHCA Strategic Habitat Conservation Area 

SJRWMD St. Johns River Water Management District  

SOAR System Operation Assessment Report 

SV Service Volume 

TMDL Total Maximum Daily Load 

TOD Transit Oriented Development 

USFWS/FWS US Fish and Wildlife Service 

USGBC US Green Building Council 

 

 

  

174



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 39 

EXHIBIT A 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

175



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 40 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

176



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 41 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

177



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

178



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 43 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

179



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 44 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

180



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 45 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

181



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 46 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

182



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 47 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

183



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 48 

EXHIBIT B 

MAP H 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

184



 Kelly Park Crossing DRI – Amended (Clean EXHIBIT C) 

 49 

EXHIBIT C  

LAND USE EQUIVALENCY MATRIX 

 

 

LAND USE MIX TABLE 

LAND USE MINIMUM CURRENT MAXIMUM 

Office 1,632,847 1,920,996 2,209,145 

Light Industrial 4,443,120 5,227,200 6,011,280 

Retail/Commercial 1,312,140 1,372,140 1,432,140 

Residential 1,395 1550 1,550 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

\\apk-fs1\users$\jhitt\Documents\Developments\Wekiva Parkway Development\DRI Kelly Park Crossings\KPC DRI Amend 2\Exhibit C Ord 

2602 Kelly Park Crossing DO 11-1-2017 clean1.docx 

Kelly Park DRI

Land Use Equivalency Matrix

                             To

  From Units Office

Light

 Industrial

Retail/ 

Commercial

Community 

College

Medical/ 

Hospital

Residential 

(Single Family)

Residential 

(Multi-Family) Hotel Institutional

ITE 

Code

Office KSF 1 1.237 0.356 10.000 0.916 1.250 2.069 1.714 0.992 710 (E)
1 

1.20 /KSF

Light Industrial KSF 0.808 1.000 0.288 8.083 0.740 1.010 1.672 1.386 0.802 110 (R) 0.97 /KSF

Retail/Commercial KSF 2.808 3.474 1.000 28.083 2.573 3.510 5.810 4.814 2.785 820 (E)
2

3.37 /KSF

Community College Student 0.100 0.124 0.036 1.000 0.092 0.125 0.207 0.171 0.099 540 (R)
3

0.12 /Student

Medical/Hospital Bed 1.092 1.351 0.389 10.917 1.000 1.365 2.259 1.871 1.083 610 (R) 1.31 /Bed

Residential (Single Family) DU 0.800 0.990 0.285 8.000 0.733 1.000 1.655 1.371 0.793 210 (E)
4 

0.96 /DU

Residential (Multi-Family) DU 0.483 0.598 0.172 4.833 0.443 0.604 1.000 0.829 0.479 220 (E)
5 

0.58 /DU

Hotel Room 0.583 0.722 0.208 5.833 0.534 0.729 1.207 1.000 0.579 310 (R) 0.70 /Room

Institutional KSF 1.008 1.247 0.359 10.083 0.924 1.260 2.086 1.729 730 (R) 1.21 /KSF

Notes:    KSF = 1,000 square feet,  Unit = Dwelling Unit, R = Rate, E = Equation

Rates obtained from ITE Trip Generation Report, 8th Edition

Trip generation rates based on total pm peak hour trip generation

1. The equation for Office (710) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed office development (1,920,996 / 2 = 960,498), which yields a rate of 1.2 trips/KSF

2. The equation for Shopping Center (820) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed retail development (1,372,140 / 2 = 686.07), which yields a rate of 3.37 trips/KSF

3. The rate for Community College (540) is based on the "student" independent variable

4. The equation for Single Family Residential (210) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed housing development (500 / 2 = 250), which yields a rate of 0.96 trips/KSF

5. The equation for Multi-Family Residential (220) was used with a size of one half of the total proposed apartment development (1050 / 2 = 525), which yields a rate of 0.58 trips/KSF

Traffic Planning and Design, Inc. (2011)

PM Peak Hour            

Trip Rates

185



  
 

Backup material for agenda item: 

 

3. Resolution 2017-24 - Opposing consideration of a second Wekiva Parkway Interchange.   Mayor Kilsheimer  
  

186



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 18, 2017  

   X  PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:  Newspaper clipping     

   X   OTHER: Resolution   
  

 

SUBJECT:     RESOLUTION 2017-24 – OPPOSING THE CONSIDERATION OF A SECOND 

WEKIVA PARKWAY INTERCHANGE IN NORTHWEST ORANGE COUNTY 

OR   LAKE COUNTY. 

 

REQUEST: REQUEST COUNCIL ADOPT RESOLUTION 2017-14 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

A recent editorial in the Orlando Sentinel newspaper suggests that certain interests are proposing 

consideration of a second permanent interchange on the Wekiva Parkway in Northwest Orange County or 

Lake County. Since the adoption of the 2004 Wekiva Protection Act, the City of Apopka has operated 

under the premise that only one interchange would be constructed in the Apopka area. Currently, on 

Mount Plymouth Road, a temporary on-ramp and exit-ramp allows access to a portion of the Wekiva 

Parkway. This intersection is scheduled to be closed with the full completion of the Parkway in 2021. 

 

This resolution, if approved, would give clear direction to staff on how to react to land investors and 

developers that approach the City staff seeking land use/zoning changes in that area, who are taking a 

gamble that the interchange would be made permanent. 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve Resolution 2017-24  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Kilsheimer    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

187



188



189



RESOLUTION 2017-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF APOPKA 

OPPOSING THE CONSIDERATION OF A 

SECOND WEKIVA PARWAY INTERCHANGE IN 

NORTHWEST ORANGE COUNTY OR LAKE 

COUNTY. 

 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the 2004 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act ( Ch. 2004-384, Laws of Florida), 

passed unanimously by the Florida Legislature, was a landmark piece of legislation that provided for both 

the construction of the Wekiva Parkway and the incorporation of numerous measures intended to protect 

the Wekiva springshed, and other aspects of the environment and wildlife for future generations, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act calls for limiting the number of Wekiva 

Parkway interchanges in its preamble for the purpose notifying all parties with interests along the 

parkway that the specific intent of the legislation was to preclude the type of urban sprawl often seen 

around highway intersections, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act specifically limits the number of 

interchanges on the Wekiva Parkway through its adoption by reference of the transportation and 

conservation principles identified within the Final Report of the Wekiva River Basin Coordinating 

Committee dated March 16, 2004, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has long desired the construction of the Wekiva Parkway and 

has worked diligently alongside the State of Florida, the Central Florida Expressway Authority, Orange 

County, with environmental advocates, with private interests and with other governmental agencies to 

bring about the construction and completion of the Wekiva Parkway based on the original intent of the 

legislation, and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has long acted to comply with the Wekiva Parkway and 

Protection Act’s provisions that it would adopt an interchange land use plan, and incorporate that land use 

plan into its comprehensive code. The intent of these provisions is to focus and concentrate development 

away from the vicinity of the Wekiva River, a haven for wildlife and which has been designated as an 

“Outstanding Florida Water.” The City of Apopka recently adopted a form-based code, as required by the 

Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act, to guide expected development within a 1-mile radius of the 

planned intersection of Kelly Park Road and the Wekiva Parkway, and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has worked alongside private interests who have assembled 

multiple parcels of land near the Kelly Park Road/Wekiva Parkway intersection under a single ownership 

structure. Within the framework of the Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act, these private interests 

endeavored to be forthcoming with residents and regional interests about the nature of their development 

plans and their willingness to abide by the guidelines established by the City’s form-based code. These 

private interests sought and won approval of a Development of Regional Impact application that provides 

guidance for how development will proceed around the Kelly Park Road interchange to assure 

consistency with the transportation and conservation principles identified within the Final Report of the 

Wekiva River Basin Coordinating Committee dated March 16, 2004 , and 

 

190



 WHEREAS, recent news reports have suggested there is a new last-minute effort to persuade the 

Central Florida Expressway Authority to construct another interchange at the intersection of the Wekiva 

Parkway and Mount Plymouth Road, and 

 

 WHEREAS, adding another interchange to the Wekiva Parkway at or near this location would 

induce unplanned growth and development in an inappropriate location, in some of the lands most 

valuable for groundwater recharge in the entire Wekiva Springshed and would induce development in the 

immediate vicinity of conservation lands acquired by the State of Florida at great public expense, and 

 

 WHEREAS, another Wekiva Parkway interchange in Northwest Orange County or in Lake 

County would:  A) Obviate the original intent of the 2004 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act; B) 

Thwart the goals of environmentalists and state officials alike to keep development focused away from 

the Wekiva Protection Basin; C) Jeopardize years of work by the City of Apopka and private interests to 

develop sensible land-use guidelines and D) Lead to uncontrolled urban sprawl in precisely the area that 

the Wekiva Parkway and Protection Area was designed to protect. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Apopka opposes any suggestion of a 

second Wekiva Parkway interchange in Northwest Orange County or Lake County and urges any 

governmental entity that might consider such an idea to reject it firmly. 

 

 APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida at a regular 

meeting assembled on October 18, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

          

  

 

                              ____________________________  

JOE KILSHEIMER, MAYOR 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

LINDA F. GOFF, CITY CLERK 

 

191


	Top
	1. 10-18-17 - CC - APPROVAL OF MINUTES - 9/27/17
	09-27-2017 TRIM Draft.pdf

	2. 10-18-17 - CC - APPROVAL OF MINUTES - 10/04/17
	10-04-17 Draft.pdf

	1. 10-18-17 - CC - Proclamations - Week of the Family Proclamation
	1. 10-18-17 - CC - Presentations - Rick Singh Property Values Update
	1. 10-18-17 - CC - Consent Agenda - Public Services - Inmate Agreement Renewal
	PS - Inmate Contract Renewal Staff Report.docx
	Inmate Contract W1084 Renewal Amendment.docx

	2. 10-18-17 - CC - Consent Agenda - Election Polling Precincts
	Staff Report - 2 precincts.pdf

	1. 10-18-17 - CC - Business - Public Services - FY 2018 Utilities Commodities Purchasing
	PS - Blanket Purchase Orders Staff Report.docx

	2. 10-18-17 - CC - Business - Public Services - Lift Station 9 Wet Well Rehabilitation
	PS - Lift Station 9 Rehabilitation Staff Report.docx
	PS - Well Quote Contract.pdf

	3. 10-18-17 - CC - Business - Woodard &amp; Curran - Water Meters
	Woodard &amp; Curran Meter Study Staff Report.docx
	Apopka CS MR Propossal 10.15.17 Final.docx

	4. 10-18-17 - CC - Business (Action) - Property Bid Offer Approval
	1 Surplus Land FOR SALE Park-Sandpiper bid approval staff report CC10-18-17.pdf
	2 Park &amp; Sandpiper - FOR SALE sheet 3.pdf
	3 SE Park &amp; Sandpiper offer-Wekiva Capital Partners 9-26-17.pdf

	5. 10-18-17 - CC - Business (Action) - Road Maintenance Map - Johns Road
	1-Johns Road Maintenance Map staff Report CC 10-18-17.pdf
	2 Johns Road Maintenance Rd Maintenance Map - 10-13-17.pdf

	1. 10-18-17 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2603 - 2nd Rd - Annexation - Irmalee Lane ROW - Legislative
	1 Irmalee Road Annexation Staff Report 1st Rd 10 18 17.pdf
	2 Ordinance No 2603 Irmalee Road Annexation.pdf

	2. 10-18-17 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2602 - 1st Rd - Corrective Ord - Kelly Park Crossing DRI DO
	1-Amended Kelly Park Crossing DO  1st Hearing staff report CC10-18-17.pdf
	2-Ord 2602 Amended KPC Development Order  11-1-2017.pdf
	3-Exhibit A Ord 2602 Kelly Park Crossing Legal Description DO 11-1-2017.pdf
	4-Exhibit B Ord 2602 Kelly Park Crossing DO 11-1-2017.pdf
	5-Exhibit C Ord 2602 Kelly Park Crossing DO 11-1-2017 clean1.pdf

	3. 10-18-17 - CC - RESO - Wekiva Pkwy 
	Wekiva Parkway reso staff report.docx
	Wekiva Pkwy - Orlando Sentinel Article.pdf
	Wekiva Parkway reso - 10-16-17 - final.docx

	Bottom

